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A jury being 'selected and sworn the Court adzrionishe 

he jury and adjourned. the trial of the case until Monday 

morning Zannary lath 1920 at 10.30 o clock.), 

York, January 12, 1920. 

MR COMM.: Juror No. 7 has sent word that he 
7 

sick. We will select another juror to take his place. 

MR. WALLACE: Does the defendant consent? 

25R. ARANOW:  He does. 

MR. WALLACE: Does the defendant personally consent? 

MR. ARANOW: Yes. 

MR. WALLACE: Will the defendant rise and say Sot 

(The defendant responds.) 

A juror being selected the entire jury was ''then duly. 

sworn. 

. Wallace v. opens the case on behalf of the -people*.. 

.3- 0 H N J. ft A 1' P R T Y, a  vitness called on behalf of. the • 

People, being duly Sworn, testifiedas follows: 

ECT OCATANATION.BY R. .17ALLACE: 
Q Yr. Rafferty, where'do you live? A 633 West 52nd 

set. 

9, That is your business? A Contractor. 

Q, Where is your place of business? A 624 est 52nd 

reet. 

Do you know the' defendant?.A Yes, sir. 

%it was the first time you ever saw 'him in your lif 

morning I spoke to him aoout the hoisting apparatust 



"•11`r 

„ 
. • ... ' • 

3ed I' think. 

q •April .3 1919 that is. 'about 12 'o'clock\ no.on?. A Yes 

q. Where did you see him? A 5.2nd street, North River. 

head. 

Q At 52nd street and the North River? A Yea sir. 

41 Whereabouts was the defend A Standing on th 

Q Standing on th3 bulkhead near the pier? A yea, sir. 

52.nd street and Lorth River in the city and county of 

New York? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Now, did you have. any conversation with the defendart 

that time? A YeS, sir, I did. 

State t the jury what you o him ane what he gtaid 

to you. you are •a contractor? A Yes, sir, I am a contractor. 

q I understand the defendant is also a contractor? & Yes, 

sir, he is a sand and stone .dea-.1---er.4.,-0-

H a place of business at 52nd street? A Yes, sir. 

You had a place of business in 52nd street? A Yes, 

Q And y-ou live in 52nd street? A Yes, sir. 

Q Tell us what conversation yo v had with the defendant? 

A I came along 12th 'venue and 1 saw this gentleman standing 

there; I went up to him end :i,sked him whether represented 

the Colonial Sand and Gravel CO., he fays_, "I nm the boss". I 

says, "That catamaran, bich is a hoisting app eratus for 

hoisting stone, coal 3.1.1ci Sc.' forth out of beats-- rid their 

comp .anv was using my. catarreran. 

R.AtAN.OW: I move to s rike th at out. 



THE COURk:- Striek 

BY YR. --:FALL. ACE.: 

lust tell us that you said .to him. A I to].c him if he 

wanted to use that catamaran any more to please call Me up on 

the telephone or come to the office which is only up the stre 

he Gould have the use of it; otherwise he could not  have 

the use of it at all any more.. 

Q When you said to him does anybody represent the Col file. 

Sand and Gravel Company, did he replY to that question? A e 

said"Yes, I am th boss." 

Whit. did you aay when he said am the 1oess"?4 I 

told him not to use that catamaran any more unless he tale-

phoned .to me Pr came up in person. 

What did he say in reply to that statement of yours? 

A Why he made a filthy remark to me, will I use the language?, 

ARANOW: I move to strike th at out. 

Q. Just say what he said to Cuy  and what you said to him, 

. no matter how filthy it may be? A. He said rtou cock sucker,. 

you don't own that Oat a,maran looked at him in anazement. 

.V.R. ARANOV: I move to strike out "in amaza.ement"-. 

UR. WALLACE: 1 think that is proper. 

Me COURT: The. way in tvhich he looked may 

be stricken out. 

TH7 WITNESS: (Continuing) I E:iIc to 2-11m "11)/.1 look 

like a, gentleman, surprised 3t- the language 'you are 

using. I just turned around like that (indicating) d 



punched me right in the Jew. 

Q, With his fist? A, Yes, fir, I turned aronn 

two men, a few around there, I said *Did you hear what h 

aid to me", and as I turned around he struck me on the head 

with a brrom. 

q You turned around, .turned your head away? A Turned 

my' head away; he turned around at. the same time. 

Q Did y u see where he got the broom? A No, r;my 

back was to him. 

Q He struck you on The head with tne broom? A Yestair. 

q Did you fell? A Igo, sir but I staggered back and the 

• blood began streaming down my eyes. 

rid you have a hat on at the me? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did the hat come off? A Yes, sir. 

Q What -as the result of his blow as far as your heAdWent? 

A I-Ivas taken to the station house in n automobile and the 

police surgeon sewed it up, and after that my own physician at-

tended to me. 

Q, Do you know how many stitches the ambulance surgelon took 

n it? Three. 

Q, Have you told vs alk the conversation you had.with the 

defendant prior to this act he committed of hitting you on the 

head with the broom? A Yes, Eir. 

gae anybody else present, right near -01) at that time? 

A There was one man in his office I guess he was checker for 

, 



- 

ARAVOIW,tI move 

MIR COURT: -Strike it. out. 

`Alha, was his name? A I donst know hie* name: 

Anybody else there at the time? A Yes, sir, 

was a man named r. Moran. 

Q Did he come up to.you after this happened? A 17 Et sir. 

Q Have at conVersation with the defendant? A 'Y sir, 

I said to Br. Voran, 'Don't let that man get away, he is after. 
_ 

striktng Tap: n I staggered along, passed towards 54th street, 

north, I walked up after him and told this Moran not to let 

him get away. 

Q, What .did Moran do? A He asked him what he done it f 

and he brought him back I think to his •office and be remained 

there. 

s anybody else there at 

other man n   -Thed Donnelly. 

time that happened? A An-

Q Now besides these two men you have mentioned was any-

bldy else in close -roximity to this quarrel? A The only one. 

I saw was the man that W as in the office, lir.Pope e employee. 

Q One of his employee's, a checker in the office? A yes. 

Was there? .A Yes, sir._ 

Q. And Mr- }loran and liffr. Donnelly? A Yes., sir. 

Any other people within a radius. of hlf.a foot or - 

so?.. A There , were people coming up  52nd street, l. o'clock, 

coming from._  work. 

How far would you say any of to-se' were., do you know?.: 



should judge 40 ór50 fee 

'CROSS OXAMINATION BY YR. ARANOW: 

r. Rafferty do you know the Colonial 

.? A Yes, air. •

 (I Do you know of them A Yes, .sir. 

Q IlOw long have :IOU, known of them?* A Pr 

have been in business. 

H long is that? A I don't kn 

four years or so; 1 dongt know the exact 

business. 

Q Do you kno 

A I do. 

Q Just describe to the 

52nd street, from 52nd street to 

avenue. 

cti cal ly since 

w, possibly maybe 

time they were in 

he place they occupy on the river front?' 

jury where it is? A It is OZT 

53rd street west of 12th 

Q About how many feet does that compriese, that pr cperty, 

how many feet does that conipriso in length and rodth? A Why, 

should judge it comprises 200 fee . 

how much property he has? 

Q, 
wh40; 

Tio-,-A; much is that place 

call the Farm along the 

Are you asking me 

occupies? Why that 

tfforth River. 

Q How much do 701/ mean by that altogether, if you know? 

I should judge bOut the leggth block-- I should judge__ 

t is a hundred feet wide. 

Q in other words there are two streets, 52nd street on 

one side and 53rd street? A 53rd street is 4. blind street--



, 

54th street. 

Q They occupy between 52nd and 53rd? A Yeelair. 

Q, About 120 

• imakineit   14, 

Don ,t you know? A It is a farm that adjoin e 12th 

_ 

Q. It18n,t a 'farm, is it? A That is what they "call it 

in he Dock Department, the arm. 

Q You had that place once? A t)1..eve. 

q *Di dn :t you ever lease that pl ace? 

occupied that place never. 

Q Sure about that? A Positive,-

Q You pass up and n the street every day? A Pretty. 

much. 

A No, sir; never. 

fa Almost every day? ft Yes sir, pretty much. 

Q You saw this catamaran es you Pa,ssed it? •A Yee r. 

Q When did you see it before the .3rd of April? A most 

every day before. 

Q, Tell the Jury where you saw it? A Why in the midst 

the Colonial Sand and gravel Company's pile ofsand; it 

frozen over. 

Q, How long was it in there? A Possibly six or seven 

months. 

Q, Where was that catamaran before that? A I think On 

some of the docks, 54th or 52nd street or 

not sure which whrever I 'had use for it. 

Q Per six months you saw that on their p operty? A Y 

It 



440- L. 

q, Did. ,you see he catamaran,- it has poles or 

standing up A You can see the wheels_ and the beams and 

t the platform. 

f:uring the six months did you ee that catamaran u ze d? 

No Sir; it •wits not used. 

Lid you tee iL on April 2nd 

n there I did; 

*You can tell r,e wh eth er you did ur note A I 

couldn't tell you whether I was on the dock that day or not. 

Did you see it April 3rd? A I could not tell you 

• k,L WAIILACE: I object to this as immaterial,incom-

petent and irrelevant . Th e question is not whether he saw 

it there, but the question i thetbr when he spoke about 

the catamaran this man .:4,43saulted him. 

CGUIC : I will alit.low  

BY . :R. ARANC/1::: 

Q Tell this jury what y prior to April 3rd, you saw 

that cat timer an ? A Yee sir, any day I  was down there I 

couldn't help but see it.: "Talked down the . street fr am the 

place of business. 

Q Shen• before AprAl 3ro dirt uu r.ti at catamaran? 

Any clay I *:.ragi down there and, looked. 

Q Did you :eeit frrst of April? A If las down 

there I did. 

Q. Hav e vou v rte,c01.1 C i on of th qt 7A T lcrt ow t.b 



saran itas there.-

1,1 Please answer the question. 

before April Wd? A did. 

t day if 'you recall? .A Possibly 

Where was- it standing? A In the sand pile. 

41:

 

8ind covered over parts of it? A They 

QM it at that ttme. 

Who was doing that? A The Colonial Sand and Gravel Co 

Q.- The company didn't do it, .4.11,et Man was doing At? A 

don it know. 

-(1 You, sail several men •there? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you see . anyone of them? A NO, sir, I did not. 

Do you know who they are? A The Colonial Sand arid 

Gravel Company employees. 

Did you talk to any one of them? A I did not. 

Q Do you know where the office of the Coldnial Sand and 

avel Company is? A Yes, 

Q Where?  A' It wai in 49th .r e -- If it is there yet 

.don't know near 11th .1venue. 

Q You know it isn't there? A They 'Tere talking about 

buying place in 50th street I don't know. 

yoti know it flirt;46.een caned? A ;Tot sir. 

Q It is still in 49th etreet? A I don't know. 

On the morning of April 3rd did yo, cee this catamaran? 

if thrIt is the day he issated me I did. 



, 

that is you allege he 

isnot it? Did he assault yOU,any other day? A On]. 

Q, What time in the morning did yoti _see the catamaran 

A 12 of clock. 

.41 Where did you $..,ee it? A' 54th street and N' °Ala River. 

CI Haw many blOcks away from 52nd Street? A Two: 

9. as anybody -on it? A o, sir. 

Anybody standing near it  A Several men .mit 

walking up> the block. 

Q, That is that?-. A. Several ren might have been walking 

ui) the block. 

You are not guessing at it? A I didnot notice. 

Did you go up there and talk to anybody while n 

catamaran? A Not sir. 

Q. How near to the catamaran did rou go? A_ I came down 

near the ''middle of 12th avenue and the catamaran was over near 

the pier. 

How far away from 12th avenue? A About 40 feet. 

4i_ Did you go near the catamarqn? A I walked right down 

to. the Colonial Sand and ravel Company office.. 

Q, YOu, cam e down 12th avenue? A Yes, sir.. 

4, You saw the catamaran standing 4(.) feet away from you 

near the pier? A Yes, sir. 

4,, Without going to look at he catamaran y the' 

Colonial Sand and Rravel Company? 
0 

A Rxactly. 

Q, You saw this man Gene Pope? A Yee, sir., I saw him' 



0 him .'and you told.bim not 

-0ataMran Einy more?. A I did not. I asked 121M who 

lust answer the. question I did not, 

-md :you say'. to him, 

•any more? A I did not. 

"You fliuStnot: 8:7" th at c a,t•mar an 

Q Did you t ell him not to use it any longer unlesshe 

telephoned, to you? A I did . I will anser your quest ion. 

q. Answer the question. Did you g o - did 

that conversation stat 

ou during 

t he must not /.3 es...that catamaran Ian-

-leas he tel-ephified to you? A I did. 

Q Did you tell him he must vt tuse -that catamaran? A 

Q Did you ever see him use it? A I saw the Colonial sand 

Gravel Co.... 

Did you ever see him se it? A I aw hi 

it.. 
ti! COURT: You asked if you ever saw him 

YR. ARANOW: I move to strike that out. 

R. ARANOW: 

Q' Please answer my qu e a ti on A Judge, can I ask a 

tion. 

(4, Please answer my question. A 

- it. 

You said youB&.W some employees 17E3f..' it, is that ight? 

A ftployees of the Colonial Sand and Gr-avel Co. -

Q Did you talk to any of hem? A I did not. 

Q‘. d speak to ny one of the Men '-_hat wee u8 

°that cAe.maran? A I did not: 

;• I did not see 



Where-vms this? A Where was what? 

Q/ That You. saW somebody use V:is catamaran 

stree 54th. street- 56th and 53rd street North River. 

Q, How long before th 3rd of April? A Six or seven. 

. months. 

nth was that? A Why that was six 

even 'months before the first of April. 

Can. you recall what ronth tht 19,8? 

TALLAC Pow, if your Honor please it does not 

• seem to me tht the Questions are relaevantl-and object 

them. 

T.1-111' COURT: I suppose counsel is endeavoring to es-

tablish some sort of provoco.tion. 

YE. ARANOW: This man goes up to him and says, 

you use my catamaran", and T want to know what ground he 

had for saying it. 

iR.Will,LACE: • -ver ii he had no ground for saying it 

it does not matter a pr) Ole, it does not justify an 

assault. 

THT COURT:_ I will 1lw it. 

Anciwer the question. A. Possibly six or seven months 

-in the spring of thL--?. year or in the summer. 

That is the suns,er prior? A Yes, sir., 

.Q. You passed 52nd street pretty ne.r zlatee times a week 

durinF, those six months') A Yes, sir. 

you app r@aclh ed d sr en dant itbrit was. he lifti ien ding 



ten feet away from the shanty-. 

Q, I -s4OW YOU this picture and ,ask you whether that is a 

_fair description Of the place as it was at that time, that 

Look at At carefully. A Yes,(sir, this shows the Shan* 

but it doesnit show where the sand and stone was Riled; it 

shows t shanty and another room, shows hie engine room and 

the shanty. 

Q, That is the house in which he was stthding in front of? 

Yes, sir; in front of this algine room. 

ARATTOW: Will you concede that? 

tiR. WALLACE: (Addressing the witness) Is it all right 

THF wITNETSS: Yes. 

kIt. WALLACE: •I concede it. 

(A picture referred to is offered in evidence 

ed Defendant's exhibit A.) 

I show you this one, show JOU a photograph this lean-

other, view showing the sand end other things about the same 

v9cinity as it was that day? 4 '4O, sir; it does not look 

like it appeared that day. 

Looking towards that pile? A ,!.(), sir; this shows a 

pile of sand. 

Q. All that I am concerned with is th,:: engine house -and 

the office,. This place. ( illustrat in) A This look dike 
• 

a, picture tome.taken very recently; it locks like it very 

much now. 



RR. .PRA 'NOW: 

JiY ARAW0c: 

Q Now you were standing eight or ten feet away from 

that shanty and he was stan:ding there? A yes, sir. 

Q racing in that direct ion? A Toward 12th venu 

Q You wa.lked from 12th avenue toward.s the A/laxity? A Yes. 

Q, You said the distance between 12th avenue and the 

shanty was about that far? (flu  strating) A Tjte.- shanty I 

guess is about twenty feet away from-the river 

80 feet.' 

Q You walked from 12th -,srenve sixty or eighty feet to the 

place ',here this -Man vras standing? A yes, sir. 

moan about or. 

4héri you gpoke to him you e,Y he punched you? A Yes. 

.Aft er you spoke. to him'he punched 'you in the jaw? A Af-

ter he used that vile language to me. 

Q, You turned around and Said something, "'What do you 

think. of. that"? A Yes, air.. 

Q, You said that to .whom? A This man • onnelly .came up„, 

the. block. 

9, Anybody else? ..A Several coming up there. 

Q, Tho were they? A I don't know who they were. 

-Q Anybody else? A Sevei-a1- O`diring up there. 
• 

Q Who were they? A I don't know who they were. 

Q Did you ..se,y that to -Moran? A He vras within hearing 

distance; I said that to Moran. 



Did you ow to Moran, "What do you think of that? --A, I 

-was looking toward Donnelly; Moran was behind me. 

Q. You did not move when he punched you in the 

staggered back.° 

Q; You- did not attempt to Jake your coat off? A I did not 

q You stood- there and simply turned around arid said "What 

o you think of that?" A Yes, sir. 

Q As you turned around that way facing towards 52nd at at 

s ruck you on the head over here, Is that right A. Ee struk 

me on the head here. 

q Tell us exactly the point? A Mixt is what I am eyigg 

• Q You were facing towards 52ne er en ft you? A Yes. 

Q, Gene Pope was standing of you there? A 

ding in front of me there. 

refer to 52nd street over,there?  A Yes, 

Crene dpe as st erdirig t 17.11 ere 1, 

s standing to the river-- I.r-=-As .fac.rig O1 

And ene Pope. struck 

is.--tb t ri:ght--;- where vou•fier uic1rig eLthtfeet away. 



• •ici Then' h 

in his hand? 

*ith me..• 

IV Mid-he- have 

came out to meet you did he huve the broom 

dtdn,t ,come out to me, he was in conve.r-

he broom inMs.band at that time? A 

Q Mien talking -ith you -did you .9 se him back up? A 

did not. 

lie did not b Eck up? 

ong there taikiàg 

did not no 

an ordinary conversatton. 

did not beck up at any time? A lie might have in 

the talking; I didnIt notice whether he was backing 

s moving. 

or w.13,ether 

Q, Didn't he back to the back of the ,hanty =ad get up 

against the wall there jog and find the broom? A Re done that 

after he punched me. 

Q, After he punched -jou he backed up didnyt he? A 

sir; he Ir.• s right close to it, he reached right behind. 

n,he i-nched you eid he back up? A Why, nw,eir, 

he just turned around.. 

Q Five or ten f t-ey 'r O:. the thenty he turned 

A Yes„ s-r; possibly arauno theit distance. 

The brvom laying right beside him there-- waen,t it 

satadint: ,-.inet the wall of irity A O, sir; lying 

on the ground. 

9, Didn t he back up? 

edit up. 

turned arouldefl 

He didet say yth.ingt.o you? sir. 



7,rate TenRycic when I examinee: y(m. 

You- were a witnessin the kagistrateel Court on -April 

•Did cross examine you at t time? A You asked 

a me, questions. 

See if I did not ask you this questkon! You talked to 

him, he as walking while he .7.as talking to you? A. He walked 

, rbadk tow rds th nfj..,ine room." r ememb er that qn 

I do. 
Ow. 

Do you rem emb a. that an r? A yes, Si?. 

14 Do you remember this quest ion: "With his face towards 

the engine  room he was backing up? A. He backed up." Do you 

remember that question? A I do. 

Q Do you remember that answer?_ A No, sir, I do not. 

tz This question "Thisbroom was •standing along side the 

engine room up against the • all?- A. Yes." Do you re...member .th4 . 

question? A Yes, sir. 

Q Do you remember that -answer? A No, sir. 

(1 That IVEI on what date-- April 8th, .wasn't it, 

istrat ea Court? ,A • I don't rememb er the date. 

Q Can you refresh your tfieL Or y n that? A: Uas it the 

I was up there? It at was thry he was arrested? 

That was the day we "h,:ic;th hearing before yagis-

'Yes, ir. 

Q, That. vas five days after this -Illeged aesau t? A Yes. 

Q, Will you say that you didn: ea.y that in 'thefragis-

trat es Court? I will not. 



wt you:. testified 

'COurt true? A Yes, 

Did you 'use any vile language toward 
e 

A No, sir, / did not.. 

When you said, "What do you think of that", did you put 

your band out something like that, nd say, "??hat do you think 

of that 

him there a 

(i!lustrating)--. dressingad   Woran or Donnelly? A No. 

Just indicate to the jury the exact spot where vou 

were struck? (fitness indicates), 

Q Right there? A Yes sir . 

Q I want to refresh your memory. .Do you remember this 

quest ion being askerd in the ma.gistrates, Court: "Did you at-

one time have a lease of the 53rd street dock? A I had the 

privil ege". Do you remember that testimony? A _53rd 2treet 

Q Yes, 53rd street? A No, sir, it is in 52nd St eet. 

Q That is between 53rd and 52nd street? A- No, sir. 

Q. You say this is not between 53rd and 52nd street where 

this happened? A Not where I had the lease. 

Q Now !tr. Rafferty did Gene Pope pick up the broom 8tn 

ing atainst_ the wall? A I didn.t notice whether he did or not; 

it didnt any materia difference to me; I didn't notice. 

1111..?n . 

to him. 

Did you .alk along gently or follow him along? A Why 

s packing up '.!hat id au do? A I was talk-

there wa,s not -- h might have been backing up .a step or two, 

I wolAi.dn,t call 7 backing -up; might h -cr, been it couple 
steps • 



, 

Didn't you tell in ihe .3gagiatra,tes Court he 'ba,ckedu 

.1.0 feet? didn mak any difference 

makfc,t any. difference to me between now 'and then*: 
up 

Q you state when he backed.A you followed him up? 

I might have. 

Q Didn t you follow him up? •A We 

there --asndit any following up to be done. 

After he punched You he. backe.d , didn'h ? A 

sir; aft.er he punched me as I recollect it I turned around and 

Ale picked up the broom and struck me,t4at is the 

the :thing. I was dazed after he struck me. 

Q, Now we will) go back to a quection by menou didn t 

give him any cause or provocation for backing up_ against the 

tall? A I, certainly:- did not." Do you remember that ques-

tion d answer? A Yee sir. 

"You did nO ra se your arm? A No." A .140,  

cz Do you remember that? A Yes„ sir. 

That is the truth? A Yes, sir. 

"You didn.t threaten him? li Raised my arm,when I *mid q 

recollect 

*Did you see that': if you call that rlising it. I am tell-

ing you what it was. 

Q Yor did not threater hi& A. I did not. Is that 

right, that is true., isn,t it? 

WAILACR: I object to the reading of these 

tions if *hey stre to show inccn latent ate.temgents they 

do not seem to be proper and he cannot read the. wholef" 



record, this is.not proper cross examinatiOntrand 

object to it. The statements dhow no material 

THE COURT: They are questions put by con 

witness and .answers given, ad if they tend to 

tradict the testimony that he 'has given in thiii-triel 

*ill -alibi& them. 

ML W.ALIACE: They do not seem to -tend to contra-

dict, but on 'the contrary the questions 1;hat he has just 

been reading are exactly what the man has testified toi 

And hence they are incompetent. 

IMF COURT: I will alloW.c-ounsel for the defendant 

to. proceed. 

ARAN,OW: • 

The next. qu i on "IT e Just backed up?• A. I don't kncritt 

why he backed up. I had no reason, to threaten him." 

R. WALLACE: I again say they are not contr didtary 

and this is improper cross .3xaninat1on, and I ask your 

Honor to direct counsel for the defense to:, cease such 

improper cross examination. 

F COURT: I rill all o-- . 

WITNES: This is nine El onths ago. 

Now 1,..,nswer-my question juEt backed up? A. I don't 

know .why he backed I• had o niason to threaten him". A Yes • 

sir; that .is 

Q dn'st you state yo;; had ben f oll owi nig. him up • "A..-

-dit after awhile." Did you testify to th-tt? Tf it is there 



did. 

Icnow where the. oa amaran is today? 

IIR. WAIX,ACE: I object to that on lb 

aterial, irrelevant and incometent 

TR# COURT: 'It may b come material• 

- A I think it le up there .?twee 52nd 

North River on the bulkhead. 

Amrt you know it is on their •propertyt he Colonial. 

band and Gravel Comp-a..‘Ty7 A It len t their prOperty; it itt 

roperty of the City of ITetti York. 

On the property th lease and occupy? A I Snpp 

they do; I do not know whether they lease it or not. 

, Are You' a layer, sir? A sir. • 

Is it on the property they are now occupying legally 

illegally, if you know? A irlhy, yes, sir. 

fla,ve you 9 lawyer? A Have I a lawyer in thJs cse? 

Q ; Any case? A No, sir; I have not. 

Have you coratienced suit ainst the Colonial Sand and 

Gravel Co. for the return of the catamaran? A I have not. 

Did yo .ever write I ttr. to the Colonial. Sond and 

Gravel Company th at that property '2, -.te yOlIrs .-:7nd you -*muted it-

returned? A I did not. 

;:u t on the day of this iti1ged assault that at altar= 

as on. 54th E4t eet, two blocks away? A Yee, 

ti Die you z..ee the persons who moved ut fr 

street? A I did not. 

to 54th 



Say, 

Q. You ;joint know how it got there? A 

Rff M•ater, ,EXAMINATION .BY WAIXACE: 

Q How old are you?‘ A 51 years old. 

q As I understood y u to say when the defendant struck 

you ..yob .turned your head. away? A yes, 'sir.. 

Q. AnO'. spoke.to some one. there-- turned. . sort, or. 

1%4=9.. A• Yee••,, 

Q Then- the next thing -yob knew you; were 'struck -On. 

head. iith 3. broom? A Yes far • 

Q Die you see what he did, -that is with .your own eyes, 

,.ken he picked the broopi up? A No, sir. 

Q. When you clay you know you iiere struck with a broom you 

mean you learned afterwards? A yes, sir. 

Q You didn.t see him in the act of picking the brrom 

up? A No, sir  I ad not. 

q Therefore you _are n t in a position to tell us`whethet 

or not he actually picked it up off the ground or from against 

a barn or shanty or anything else? A No, sir; I am not in , 

• poeition to say. 

this thebroom with which you were struck by tbig; de-

fendant if you know? A yes, sir; that is the broom I was 

struck by. 

R. WALLACE: I ssk that it be marked for dent/-

. fication. • 

(Marked People's exhibit 1.) 

During this time tht. this catamaran was frozen up in 



did not. 

u didn t have any lies for' it? ' A 

When was the first time that you  hought you might have 

occa,si on to us.e it? 

MA.1107/: I object to .s,ny thought ; 

TH.F. COURT:- I ill let hiii ari ewer the question. 

A Why aftr it cams Out. 

rt. That *as abOut when? A That 

.4 April? A Yes, 

BY A XUROR: 

Q. 'How many men and hor long time would it tak 

ift017e th 'It 0 at amar anabout two 'olocks? A About ten minute€ . 

it is on -wheels with a team of horses on it; it is a matter of 

a pair of horses to it in pulling it ri1t along. 

BY MR. ARA TOW: 

q5 years of ge? A -17-es, air. 

Q Has it ever occurred in your life where a an etruck 

you that you turned the otner cheek to him? 

FALL ACE : I obj ec t to that crn the ground thatthe, 

question is immat eri a,l. 

TEl COURT: . Quest ion ezclu,ded. 

told Mr. C.allace :Toll .16 riL. see -whore the broom 

.. was 'before he picked it  up?. A• 743 ell. you 'mean? •  

Q ))id you see tilt.: br( om bei.)r e picked it p? A t 

I did not. 

Q. pid you know v/bere it was b efore he picked it up? A No; 



him .pick it up? A 

4 Mid you know where be got It from? 

it from the .011 

A Why I imagine 

Q Do you liplow where he pot it from? A The 

air 

Q Well, the approximate location, if yoU,pleasel 1( 

it was close by where he was, 

Ct Where was it near the wall, or on -the floor or 

on the .Oeiling or lying down? A .No, air., It  vrasbn the--

either on the wall or li--gainet the wall of the .ouse. • 

Q, You donst know? A sir. 

Q You did not see it? A 1o, air; not when he struck me; 

saw it afterwards. 

Q, Before he struck you? A I didn't nOtive 

q At page 13 of the stenographer's minutes did.you tes-

tify in the magistrates' Court on -April 8th, before Magistrate, 

.Tenyck? A Yes  sir. 

Q, Did I question you 7-4t- th t time A A You quest ibned me 

ye, 

Q, Did I k you this question:.-!*Bid you see whe-rethe-

broom was'',. C dio you make this answernlying alongside of the 

engine room"?.. 

If it is there I. did. 

• • q That io the truth? A Practically the truth th sem 

'1 said now. 

Q, Die; you see where the broom was? A Did I .e where. 



6'"'"T'Fr'.7ftr-r-r• 

Well, -I am not used to being in court very often 

answered that way, I was  answering it truthfully as 

d I ,i.te31ing the ruth now. 

Ifat WALLACE: He my 'tiave seen. 

. AP. A.NoWi 

a.ft er.ft.ards. 

44. Ber.ore you had a chance to say an thing; 'before the 

:man hit yu 1,4.1.th the stick over the head, .and you z ai d Not 

- with a stick, Tith broom and broke the handle". 

A I reeiilhr aying that. 

rak e d you "Did you see where the broom, was", wid. yott 

said "lying alongside the en.gone roOttiu". • 

It4R. WALLACig: That is where it was after he.wa 

on the head with it. There is no time fixed there. 

-Now did you see where the broom was ? A. "Lying, 

alongside the engine room", is th!--...t the truth? A If I sn-

wered it there yes. 

"Q. How far away from the engine room"? A. "It 

was 9gainst it". 

A I don't know what you call the engine room or the of

where he '5-calked into. 

Do you remember that • est ion an answer? A I re-

member you fiskinst. me several question T remember waswer-

ing them anything thatIs in that book I preen] is tethat I 

said. 

Ifft. ARANOW: I move to F. trike th ,.1.t out. 

Mt COURT: No. I will let it atflM,'beoai8ehe says 
• 



Ay," rad. o* = 1.0 

that he pribab1y said all that is in that recOrd. 

Q, Did you maks a statement to anybody that you got this 

man now and before you get through with him there 'wl)4 be noth-

ing ,left of hire A .Certeinly not. 

You are not bitter about this -case against this defeld-

A I ATI not butter because a. man of his years wo:Ad strike 

Q , Are. y 12 bitter against him? A Not personally, no 

sir, nothingbibtttgr; I wouldn't want to see the man go to prison., 

for any leng,th of time butt I would like to see him h 

to his nasty terper. 

ARANOW: I •obj e et t. a that 

TE. COURT: No, it & characterizing his feeling 

will allow it to stand. 

This occurred in your own bailiwick? 

15R. WALLACE: I obj ect t that on The g o 

the word bailiriek is improper. 

TH COURT: •quest ionexcluded. 

YR. ARANOW: I withdraw it. 

ILL:EA  0 P A called on beh 

People. beingduly sworn, tcctified follows: 

(The -itness states he lives ..;.t 437 est 48th tree 

T INAT Oki BY 1R.. WALL 

f of t 

Q -,Ph;:J.t is your business') A 

On April .3rd 1919 by whorl were you employed? A 



B employ, but I am amployed about b 

people. 

In other WQd8 v rjObody• 

ributes to pay you? A Yes, sir. 

You wat ch the property? A The property surrounding 

. Greater New 'York Company, the freight coming down. the 

orth River. 

Fho pays you directly? A The commission men 

owners as a rule. 

Now you know a man , named Rafferty?.. A Yes, sir. 
_ 

Bow long have you known him?. A I know .r. Rafferty 

about 30 years. 

hat nei both ood con-

Q, Do you know this man Pope? A yes, sir. -

Q 7The defendant? A Yes, sir. 

Q How long have you known him? A Ever since he 

in business I think six, seven or eight years, I m not 

Q You are familiar with the premises around 52nd *st 

d North River? A I am there twenry eight y_ 

S been 

neir 

-rest.

Q Were- you there. on  the 3rd of ,April 1919 about noon? 

Yes, sir. 

pfd you see the defendant there this man here Pope? 

A Yes, sir. 

Did you see mr . Rafferty there? A ye, sir. 

Q. When syou first saw the  what we they doing? 

conversati 011 . 

Q About how :ar were you from-them When Tou first- raw 



was .passing : theis.,:ale.Out. :when r• first Saiir thest4;.... 

wentin the engine room to bring some tools in there and ivhile• 

there I.heard some angry, words, stepped out o see who it 

was. and saw Nr. Rafferty calling somebody to witness this 

man here calling him a cock sucker or something like that. 

Q You heard this man calling him a cocksucker? A Yee ,sr 

Q Reard the defendant call him a cock sucker? A yes r., 

Q. -Did YOU hear Ur. Rafferty say anything to the defend-

ant/ A ni.at is all I heard  was Rafferty calling some witnesses. 

hear the man calling him that. 

Q, Did you hear who he was calling? A, Be was calling 

quite a few men there, Nr. Donnelly., I think, and a half a dozei 

altogether. 

Now what if anything did you see happen after you heard 

this calling and after this defendant used that term? A I. 

started to walk over to them, I was about four feet from Pope 

and I seen Pope reach behind, -reach for that vieapon. 

Q He picked up a broom? A yes, sir, that broom. 

Q DO you. recall whether he picked it up frot the floor 

was it leaning against the shanty? A Leaning against the 

shanty. 

ci What did he do with the broom? A He raised it and. hit 

Rafferty, and he says,"Yes, you cock sucker." 

Q He called him a coeksucker? A When be hit him." 

Q, the E. o rid time? A yes, sir. 

Q He struck hit on what part- of- the body? A The 'back of 

- 4* 1. .4 v. 4 + rs 1, 4 es *1 + 



.k.JJid you see -what happened to Rafferty after h 

struck with the broom? A I seen the blood flosing and he 

asked Me licad Pope not to let him get 'away. 

Q. Did you make any effort to hold him? A I put my hand, 

on Mr- Pope and told him not to run. 

Q. Did he move meantime? A No, sir. 

.Did he say anything to you? A No, sir, v,ent into 

the office. I followed yr. Pope in the office and I said?„ 

• try were. follish to do It thing like that. 

•Q. He went into the office? Ayes, sir, inside. 

Q. You went after him? A Yes, sir. 

What did you say to him? A I said, "You -were fool-

• ish to do a thing like that " "Well: he says, "when he got 

excited everything turned red, nd he did not know what he 

was doing." 

Pop'e said that?A Yes, sir. 

61 Everything turned red and he didnyt know what he.was. do 

ipg? A Yes, sir. 

1111. ARANOW: I object to counsel repeatin.- the re-

marks of the witness'. I think it l•e not necessary. I 

think •counsel ought not to -repeat the, words of the wit-

ness, and I ask yciur Honor to please rule on that. 

TILT COURT: I will let it stand for the time being. 

Ur. Wallace knows , f course, that the answer must not 

be repeated. There is no case against it. 

/RANOW: There is a rule of the Appellate rivisiom 

" 



a rule of the Appellate Division 

I believe where it says it is improper for counsel 

repeat the answer questionagiven by a Witness. „. 
•t) by MR. WALLACE:: 

Q• Did you see Rafferty strike the def.eindent? A 

Bear him use any bad 1.anguage towards the defen.dant? 

When  you went in the engine room with ihe defendant 

was there wbody else in the engine. room? A The engineer 

. was upst4rs. 

w s the checker or anybody downstairs? A 

here was 3 checker in the office. 

That is not the engine room? A Not sir. 

Quite close to :it? A Sort of an'anf-le, for 

Do you knciw I"...hat that checker's rime was? A No sir; 

I do not. 

Q After you had this conversation with the ciefen.dant. 

that you speak of in the engine room did anybody send for a. 

policeman er an aitbulance r anything like that? A bttnt 

for the policeman on 'the corn er.. he een my hl3nets going p", 

hp. oArl over when I beckoned to him. 

Q, The policeman' came? Yes, sir. 

,That was r.fficer Reiner? A Y s, 

7hat happened after h t there? A I left him then, 

and didnot bother any more; I went to my owr office they 

t i',ok hi ay in i. automobile . 



- 

It was Pope's Car that was? A yes, 

The complainan -and the officer and everybody got 

it and went to the station house? A Yes 

- that right? A Yes, et 

CROSS RUMINATION BY R. ARANOW: 

Q, Ye- say you are the ',,,ratchman on the dock? A Yes 

Q At night or day? - A On  of us there day and one at 

- night. . 

Q You were doing day duty that day? A Yes, 

Q just prior to having he.ard the conversation 

with anybody? A. No, sir. 

did you talk 

Q, Where had you been just prior to walking over to the -en 

gine room? A Taking a look over the dock, preparing to go 

in-- elle was just • going up on the first tow. 

Wh er f3 were you? A just across the pier fr. 52nd 

et eet, 

Q You walked into the engine room? A Yes, as 

d Rafferty. were standing, talking. 

Q - Did you notice how far away they were  from the engine 

room? A They were out of sight of the engine room. 

Q How far away from the office were they? A -About back 

back Pope was backed to the office about tWo feet south of 

the door. 

Q. His back waet the office? 4 . Yes, si 

Q: Rafferty-- how was he facing? A Close together. 

Q Yov, went in the engine room? 'A yes, sir, I went 

in the engine room. 
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Q. HoW long did, yo vr: stew- there? 

voices and then 

How long? A 

came out. 

Tt- could not be over a minute. 

*Then you heard the ngry voices you vent outside'  

Yes sir. 

Q, What was the next thins you saw? A I saw Rafferty 

calling some isitnessee over to listen to Pope callin hit' a, 

cocksucker, and the next thing I saw was that he struck him 

.The first thing you saw was Rafferty calling tosome 

witnesses? A Yes, sir. 

Q What did he say? cie said "Come :d.alistn 4.P 

this man is calling me. 

Q How was he moving with his arm? A r, just put 

hand up the same as I do his hand up, to st, 

Q, Calling witnesses? A Yee, 

Q, How many. witnesses were there? A Well, that 

nodn time, cluTte'a few men, I .couldn't exactly tell  y 

Q,. HOW many. did.You see? A I seen five or six 'myself 

Q Po

 

you .know any of them? A I -know them 911 

ht th eir names? A Wen I can mention a few pf 

names. 

Q, Give .me five or six. A: I will give you what I can, 

IPhn Donnelly j one or Thomas Donnelly, I should say and ieter 

ponselly-was another, :and then there was I won't say no 

Pore names -because I can't rightlz: tell the names, I know their 

I -know all these -longshoremen but i dent kno-: ir p op en. 



y by -nolo. 

Q Row far were they _fro% Raffrty A About 15 feet. 

That is the first thing. you saw? A Yes, sir. 

41 What was the second thing you saw? .A :I seen itr.Pops' 

the matr with a stick. 

He called him a cock sucker? A Yes sir-. 

Q That is the time you heard him call the rime? A "yes 

r; t• is the first time I heard him call him that. 

And the last time  A Yee, sir, and the last time. 

There were not two times? A Icou1dn,tsy.iaat 

happened before but in my presence that was an. 

Then hit him with +4 broom? A Yes, sir. 
saw it did 

As yolthealad he grabi ' the broom with both hands? A. 

What is that? A I couldet say that; he reached be., 

hind and swung the broom in 

Q. Do you know whether with two hands or one hand? A 

•eir; I could not stw• 

tz How far away from him was Tt' afferty at that time? A 

Close enough to it him with the broom, you can imagine where 

hit him 

Q Will you tell s how far away be was? A About a 

coupl of feet way. 

Q Five? A well, inside of ,five. 

Q Sta ding p eefectly still? A yes, sit with Ilia b 

turned to him.' 

Now let us get that straight. Pope was it 



o the office? 'A Yee,. 

.TOet a,s you are sitting now? A Yes, 

.Q, Rafferty standing in front of him? A- Yes sir, that 

"Co 

me? 

As I now? A About. this way. 

Q Rafferty •turned and stood in this direction, tit maids 

over h -re end listen to that. till,- fellow hasto. say about 

A "Com. over idlieten to wh:ittMe man is -ailing M 

g,ie pickedup the broom? Yes, sir. 

Struck him on thii head? A yes, sir. 

14- Standing as I rort now? A Yes, sir. -

Re wa,an t bending over? A No sir. 

Q He vaasnit stooping? A No, sir. 

Q. 

Just stood perfectly treight7 A Yes, 

Shoulders erect and arms down? A I- dont-t think th 

then ever thought he wasgoing to be struck. 

}SY A JUROR: 

Q, Did the brook break like that when be struck 

ferring to the broom handle) A yes, 

31,1: R A R AWN : 

picked up the broom afterwards? A I did not pick 

it up. 

Tho r'id? A don t know, I couldn't exactiv s 

took 'Mr. Pope to on e aid . 

Are you related to him vr. Rafferty, in any way? 
0 

*7; 

A 1 have a nephew th at married 1P7. Rafferty' s niece abc t 

, 



842: months ago since that thing happened. 

Q Did you testify in the Magistrate' Court 

Did I question you at that time? A Yes,  

Q• Did. you testify at that time of the 

had with .1,4r. Pope inside of the allanty? • A 

I was no tasked-: •that\qLtestion. knowledge4 

q You did not answer that because you 

i8 t-het right? A es, sir. 

conversation you 

No, sir; not 

were not asked. 

Q • This is the first time you ever told under oath the 

toigy about the conversation you had? -A In 

Q,• The first t me you ever told that? 

think so. 

•q Did you ee vr. Pope back up? A He coul dn t backup, 

Q, Did you see him back up? A He couldn't back up. 

Q, Answer the question. Did you see him back up? A NO, 

sir, I did not. 

the .office. 

A Yes, sir; I 

P E F R D L Y, a witness Called, on behalf 

of the People, being-,duly sworn, testifi-ed as follows: 

(The _itness states he lives at 455 West 441tilt- str 

DIRECT ExmlINATI ON BY TOR. R. WALLACE: 

Q What r business? 'A LongSheremen. 

(4, For whom do yOu work? A I have different men as 

b sees. 

Different ben? A yes, sir, different, four orftve 

a en in one week d may be one man in two. weeks. 

• You.. load thd unlo:ad boats that come into •the. :oaks?. 



—mikegtulDoprorleibr,-

r, according aS I am hired 

(1- Do—you work for lir. Reffe:rty7 •A No 

For. Pope? A No sir. 

Do you know Ur. Pope or Mr. Rafferty? A I know Ur. 

Rafferty aboUt to-enty years off and on but have no d alings - 

la him in the time being. 

. Yon know him fron being around that neighborhood? 

• A Yes, sir, al.*ound there four or five years. 

Q "On the 3rd of April, 1919, 'about tw lve or a. little 

before twelve o'clock were you in or about 52nd street- and the 

North River.there? I was about 15 feet from the river front, 

about 15 feet, back of Where the trouble - was.•_ 

Q Did you see yr. Pope.. end yr. Rafferty there at that 

time? A Yes sir. 

q,. Now what first 4tracted your attention then if any-

thing? A Fell, I was f,7,71neral1y CPPiing past there, that way 

looking out for automobiles .xidI happened to.be standing 

there _afraid of getting runo v sr; so I happened to be standing 

there and. I heard vr. Pope and lir. Rafferty having som :vorde 

and all of a eudden Mr. Pope got very riled up 7-4nd d him 

a bad word, a cock sucker. Ae he did Rafferty turned. around ani 

hc-1 said "You heard what he said, this mpri called .ell-yee,7 he 

turned again, and on th turn Mr. Pop.e came like alio half 

swung up and plumbed him in the jaw, and as -.)e did --

With his fist? A Yes, sir; just as he turned.around 

'he rnached over -47nd pets hroorr nd hits .aafferty on the head 
P 



„ 

1 N \ Nts, •Z • `N. • \ 

• an that". kind cif fell back with the fOrce of the blow 

and Noran was standing in the back and he hollered "Don't let 

. him get away, see what he done". Moran came up and put one 

hand on hie neck .9ind one on the shoulder and held him there =-

the officer. came. That is all I know. 

• CROSS ,DIANINATION SY TAR. ARANOW: 

15 feet south when I •saw this here -- these men having some 

words and on a sudden Pope got very riled up and called Refer-

y a cock sucker. As h-e did Rafferty turned around arid he says, 

"You have heard what this man said--" yes--as he did Pope 

punched him in ;.he jaw, and he was about to turn and he reactiel 

over and got this broom and hit Rafferty across the head, and 
did 

aethe./ Pafferty said, "I thought you were more of a gnlan 

than that" kind of staggered back, and as he staggered back he 

hollers to Moran, standing in the back, "Don't let that man 

get away, hold him." 

Rafferty hollered to Moran? A Yee, sir. e valked 

is all I know. 

• who waS st-inding with you? A There P.asnobody 

standing:, with me. 

Rol.' many fell 01,, s 

A Kobody Only my s el f 



- ....%oo?'""--.. • 

AVOW 

Any men around you? A No, sir. 

A ltre you talking to anybody? 
.0* 

Bt.anding there, talking to nobody. 

41 Anybody within a radisu of 

nigh be:;  I didn,t measure it-... 

Q. g tit ten feet? (N swer.A. 

Q ,,et -r Donnell there? A . I arid pete Donnelly. 

- is John ? A No John .BOnnelly,with.me only myself. 

Q Nobody named ,Tohn Donnelly there? A No, sir; 

not see him. 

Q Were there five or six standing there )61together? A 

sir, a lot ofmen coming up and down; I don't know who they were. 

.Q A lot of ren coming up and dawn with you? A atanding 

behind MR; I didn:t know them. 

• Was John Donnelly there? A I did not see him. 

Q Do you know him? .A Yes, sir, he 

is his business there. 

'as he there? A No I did not see him. 

You were all alone? A ,Yes, sir; other people peeving; 

°nit know who -they were. 

Was. there anybody with You, sir, anyboj talki 

You? A NO, .fr; not at the Lime, 

Q Anybody standing within two .feet of you? Si 

Q Were there five or six men in a group round you? 

A Wol sir, nobody in group- alongside of me, not as I know, 

was lookinr toward *here. the trouble was. 

is a manure man, 



piimali 

Whet was the first thing that attracted your attention. 

and raffertY A I happened to be standing there' 

previous to that, three or four minutes before this thing hap-

paned, T always look aroud, on account of automobiles going 

in and out, I don't want to get run over. 
• 

Q What was the first thing that attracted your attention. 

towards Pope and #r. Rafferty?- A Kind of talking loud words.. 

Q What was the first thing you heard/ A The fir 

thing I heard he called him .a cock sucker. 

Did you.see Rafferty raise his hand? A 

body raised .his hand. 

Q See him conic over? A No, sir., he turned around and. 

says,  "You seen what this man _called m&' ,'and he had.hie 

back--

q Did he raise his hand like that (i'lustrating) A Mr... 

:Rafferty after h. Ova to Pope at the time-- he turned—around-

to talk to 

Q Just shOw me -- eupposing we will say tbi is the wall 

the shanty. A Yes, sit. 
tell us 

Q
 

:ow. justAtout the way Pope was Standing, with tlis 

back against the shanty? A .Ye3:1 Sir with his back againat 

th8 shanty, Pope was standing this way, there is the shanty 

and afferty- wat here. 

9, Rafferty Pas standing abollt where I am? 

Pope standing like that about a step away, 

A Yes sir, 

far as this. 

Show me how fax way Rafferty was from Pope? A About 



about that. close up to him. 

Q .At that time it was that Pope struck Rafferty on "the 

head? A Yea, air. 

Q, Is that right  A Rafferty- on the turn, 

came around half way and hit him on the head with it  he broke 

as he knocked Vt. Rafferty's hat off it fell on the ground 

end the side of his had hit ;the• neck, full of 'blood.. 

Q I am trying t tame you to show me how far away 

Rafferty Pope was? A I will tell you now. 

Q. You be Pope and I will be Rafferty. Will you 0 that? 

A I couldn't ell you that; I will tell you the reason why. 

-as done so quick I had no time to think. I hadn 

anything like that was coming off. 

cant i; you give us an idea just how far Rafferty was 

amay from Pope, what their relative positions ,.vere? A It 

couldn‘lt be no further th)vn three feet. 

• Q Like you and I? A About that far„ he stepped this 

way, it ce.me on the bide of his hee.d as he was turning around, 

he got hit on this side of the head, turning around. 

Q Did you see Pope grab the broom? A I seen him 

reach over for the broom. 

Where did he get it? A. South of the office door. 

Did ii.ra walk latak to arda it? •A Tust got thi 

•And the broom (illustrating) 

Q You did it see him beck up? A jq0, sir, T di an t 

see him back ; stood there lik a 8 atue , pie of mar 
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'0 as if he didn,t know; what 1e was doing like -a, cowardly 

look on hi 

You have known Raffert3r for twenty 

Related to hi 

Q Do 

to *no club 

.Not sir. 

are? A Off an 

you belong to any club with him? .A belong' 

116 that's more— no clubs, Americans -d nft have 

to belong to no club's.. 

Q• .P.ben he struck him he said, "1 thought, yoi 

'gentleman°, is that right? A Yes, sir, that's. It, h 
more of 

thought you werl/a gentleman than that.'  

Q, Then .he struck him with the broom? A Yes,sir;ft.er 

Rafferty expressed that.  

q Did. 

did not. 

TOSFP PiTINT, lit a witness called on behalf of the 

People, being duly sorn, testified as follows: 

(The a states he is a police officer Atached 

th Precinct.) 

T fT2X/V!INATION BY R. FALTACE: 

you testify in the vegistratesi Court? A Noteir, 

Y n are polic Officer tte.ched to he Police . 

of the Gity of ,„auf York? A Yes, sir. 

Q, You e such on the 3rd of April 191 A Yes, 

On .that ay did you go a to a. pi r.or A. place n 

52nd street a.nd. 4..hc orth River in 11-1- city and county of New 

•York?. A Yes, sir. 



41.1130001t., 

Did you •see this .man Pope, the defendan 

Did roil se a man named Rafferty there? 

this man out -there. 

Did you notice the ..condition of Rafferty then., you ar-

yed at this place? 

-obj-eet to that as inciampoten 

terial Ivant. 

THE CCATR.T.: I will alio 

2xcepticin.. 

A Mr. Rafferty :was full of blodO, the blood frOM-

on his head', all,- down his, collar, shirt and clothes were full. 

of blood. 

tirma-

Cr:at, if anything, did you do? A I "ittiked wr. Rat-

f erty what the tr ouble ras. 

Q V.T.s the defendart there at that time  A Yes, sir. 

ifh4,a, did Rafferty ay in the preeence of the defendant? 

A lie said. he hit me with 

' here. 

did the defendant say, if anything? A 

him did he -do it. 

Q, U2at did he say? A lie said-- he .c.imits he done it 

rot kno-10 hat he does sometimes, •excited an 

his 11,,?ad. 

Q. 2i3i4 h,: did it but he didnIt kno 

yea, sir. 

ct that di you do af ar that? A I told him he was plac-: 

what he does? 
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told him he waSunder arrest and I took 

hit to the station house. 

You and the defendant and the complainant got into hist 

ed under arrest. 

car, didn t you? A Yes, sir. 

And drove over to the station house? A 

Arid sent or the ambulance? A Yes, sir' 

-41 .Vdio as. the doctor that came in sponse to 

A Jr. ZoClave of 7,ellevue Hospital.. 

riVia lilt if anything did.hel, do with regard to treating 

exty? put two or three stitchesin his head. 

Q Yelk brought. that • bro om • here- today? A Yes, 

Is• i;hat the broom you got at the time the crime was 

committed? A sir. 

Q, Where has it been since? A The Prope 

room in Police Headquarters. 

WALL,frif: I off r it in evidence. 

W. ARANOW: I object to that on h grol,nd that 

it is incompetent and imma,terial and ii hak: not. been shown -

that it is in the same condition as it Ivas at• the it 

.BY 

TH C 

Q. What was its. condition - Ivhen you founo.ity :c4cf answer) 

ARANCG.: ... would like to aek him come queetions. 

IF Cluna: You ay ask him if y tieh. 

R. :„ 

when dio you first see this broom? A laenI of to 



/04K‘ovcvorov 
,6„.• mt. 4`, 

etreet and 12th avenue 

Where ,was tipe broom 

Q Bow long had. he had 

know how -,long he had it. • 

g, was it just -exactly as it  is when Rafferty hands 
- - 

you? A Yes, eir. 

Q Do you know how long after the assault it was? 

Q Do you know 

sir, I do not. 

UR. ANOW: I obj ect 

ere the other parts of this broo 

its receipt in alf.:4:1 

Objection Overruled. Exception. 

(*Marked geopl els Exhibit, 1.) 

Q• What time was it when he got to this place? A- Abo 

12 o'clock. noon. 

YR. WALLACE: I• would* like. to have the jury •3xa.iiiine 

the broom. 

• (The ji,rors do so.) 

'(A thi8 point the Court admonished the jury, and 

took a re .13 until .2 plc Ock.)_ 

APT 'FR RECESS.' 

VA; --c CLAV . a itness called on behalf of 

the people, being aul7 sworn, testified as follows: 

(The witntlas atates resides at tellevue 

Ir.RECT 'XA I NAT I rYR. kATTACE: 

- You ar••;"i physibign :i,nd you were on the ?,rd of April, 

1918, connect -d with -Rellevue Hospital? A yes, sir. 



Q On tbat.day did you have an ambulance call to the 26 

reel/lett. A don't remember it. • . 

y 

they iretr4sh your recollection? A Yes, sir. 

e Eunhulance call? A Yes sir. 

4I 4k you if you will look at it end try to fresh 

3r014. recollection? A No, sir, it does not. 

Q Now will you please read that third line there apro$4 t4 

and tell me Whether or not that refreshes your recollection 

No sir, it does not. 

Q. mo you remember having treated this Rafferty? 

A I don't remember. 

OYFICER REINERIrecalled. 

CROSS aMINATION BY MR. ARANOW: 

GI Your name? A Joseph Reiner. 

Q Attached to 'what precinct? A The 26th. 

Wh re is that located? A 345 West 47th street. 

,t the time yo amtved at the dock there -7ore a 

great many people there? A yes,  

Now look .at this picture and tell us whether or t 

t is about the location of the place Where you saw thq4e 



Stone CO.? A Yea, sir. 

ct A great many'people there at that ttme? A Well, there 

was many people there, around noon time, going out to their 

dinner. 

Q, ts there quite a big crowd there? A Well, goinc, 

About fifteen gr t nty after thiE, thing had happened 

You hre r. Rafferty talked to you? A yea. 

Q. I that right? A Yes sir. 

Where did you gind the• de.fendant? - 0014 three 

or four 4eet :away :11Th Yr. Raff erty.: • 

After you had a. conversation Tith IT. Rafferty -did 

h'ilve a conversation, with the defrdaxit? A yes, air. 

Did you at that tint? have the broom? A Yes, air. 

Q. 

t there. 

0 Who had it?. A 1r. Rafferty. 

Q Where did he have it? A In his hand. 

Any other parte that were there? A 

rou first get- the broom? A - As 

'No b:ther-parts? -A No, air.. 

Yc tok That brocm to the station lionse? 

You h d it in court? A ye 

n as 

yon it up "in this piece of paper? A Yes.' 

di 21 -irap it up? 

.54th street. 

Q 'Mat day? A Ys sir. 

A When I loft,the court up 



sent it from t;h3, station house 'tO the _roperty 

Is ;13:.1.t the rule of the 'Ttpa.rtment? 

Sure about that? A Yes,, sir. 

Q. It isn.t a rule requiring you to place it in 

'You 'put" it in some place itt the 

A i put it back in the station house.' 

n the station. house? A Yes, sir. 

- Did you put it in tHu,_,Z.L"operty Clerk's office? A.. No,. 

sir, I id not. -

Q -*en did you put it in the -property C1-?rkts office f 

-me? - A I didn't put it there at all. 

not? A I left it in te:'1. tation house, and they. 

k, office. 

sir. 

the Pro-...". 

Clerk's office? A No, sir, not that I know ot, 

You don't know anything about that? A No, sir . 

Yo didn't place it beck in the prop. rty ffice? 

•A wo, sir. 

You wrapped it in this paper n the day in the court' 

house? A Yes, sir. 

Q; Look i',he date of that newspaper?g'i. A• That wasthe • 

No mistake about that? A NQ 

•  newspaper  I wrapped it up in. 

at on that p er ? A 0" anu :try .4th. 

What year? A 1920. 

e th.t is 1;h2 per you Imappitql it 1.tpin in the 

Ilagiet rat €.,s Court? A No, sir, I tak fli t back, I wrapped it 

-•?.nvelope; I didn't mean hat newspaper then. - 



• 
' 

Q nal the Court why you didn't take that aown to the 

Property Clerk '8 office? . A It ien,t the rule- we al aye -leave 

it I n the at  house« 
, 

cl That i6 your experience on the Police Force? A Yee: 

Q. Did you Show that paper or that broom t - Mr. Bfterty 

since Lhe da:y ,rou• were in the liagistrates, Covrt? A No, sir, 

I did .tiot 

4. Di t .him? A No, sir. 

Q Did you have a talk with him in the :station house?. 

did t. 

Did: you 'try to .put the. piece into 

(5T1 t 7;o71 see it cantt. possibly fit in there? A 

_didn't, see whether it would fit there at •al or not.  

MR,. VALLAC.E: It i apparent to everybody that. 

Oes not'. 

tlury. 

.ARANOW: ...rr net addres.si.ng myself to you..., 

TBi COURT: That. i a Matter of. 0.:ripment with. the • 

PAR, •ARON': I con't want counsel to int crrupt me. 

Me. may object to it. 

VLF GOTIRT: Ile may comment on it when he comes 

to tun up, 

ARAITOW: 

There did j'iqu .4ceep it in the station honsa? -A gaVe 



lieutenant in charge at the ,desk. 

Q what is ;he I i eut en ant I s name? 

V ou just now; I would have to look It up. 

Q Where did ,vou go to get this? A I 

arty Clerk for it. 

co,y1 n t tell-. 

to thse.! 

Q You were in the Magistrates' Court. at that 

A fialat time? 

wheilhe examination was had before ti ce T n-

Wck? A Yes, Sir. 

Did you, testify? A I don't, remember whet?" er I did 

or not. 

• Q, Did you make any et at en cut under oath t that time 

that the defendant said something about sbein red? A •I dont 

know whether I did, or not. 

DR. WALLACE: There is no proof th z.it this InqX1 was 

called as a witness in the Magistrates' Court. Tr, says 

he doesn-t know whether he was or not. 

BY "E. COURT: 

Q. Were you in the 1agistrate/0- Court? A I was there. 

• Q, Did you testify? A I could not tell you  

would'have to think, but I think I was there and did not 

testify. 

Q DOI you recall what happened in ihr station house on the 

day of the rest? A All I know- about is going to the st a-

t on  house. 

• 



Q, Did you hear. Rafferty cmetbing. with regard 

eeeing Pope in the station house- saying that he has ct him 

n T. and before he would get through with him there v”-ould be 

nothing left of him? A I didn't hear him say that. 

ALLACE: The geople rest. 



am going to ask the Court to 

to recall this witness for the purpose of two or t 

questions. I am not prepared at this time, I n 

DAR. WALLACE: If the man 18 going to be cross exam-

ined let him be cross examined now. 

Th COURT: You may recall him if you desire., thid 

I will determine then whether it .is proper. 

flR.IRANOW: I move to dismiss the first count , the 

charge of a.ssault in the second degree on the ground that 

the re opl e -ha.ve absolutely failed to establish the es-

sential elements. 

TH COURT: 16 oti on denied. Excep ti on. 

ARANOW: I al so ask your Honor to dismiss the 

second ' count on the -same grounds. 

troti on denied. Exception. 

IRANOW: If your Honor please , I ask you to direct 

a ver di ct for the defendant. 

TM? COURT: Not ion denied. 

ARANOW opens the case on behalf of the defend-

PATSY De -el-LIP 0, a. witness called on behalf of 

the .defendant , being 

(The witness stttes ne lives at 22 10th street,West .Nsw 

York, New jersey.) 

DIRECT N'XANINATI ON. BY. ltdi. ARANOW: 



• 

• "••••••••., •••••••• 

bu sin ess? 

For whom? -A The .Colonial Sand C 

Working there now? A No, Silt'. 

7,/here are you now employed? A Fred, 

In what employ? -A Foreman. 

Q

 

then. did you leave the Colanial Sand. Cc.? A I left 

it the 26th ,of Tune. 

Of last year? A yes, sirs this year, .192(, 

last year. 

no you remember the day -of the fight? A Ye; 

there were you? A. I was down on the dOck., 

Q. 'Row far away from the engine house? A About 16 fee 

.That were you doing there? A I was at dinner time, - 

called up the. men for dinner; I called up the men to their lunch.. • 

Vithat were you doing that morning there? A Ne? 

was standing there at twelve o'clock. 

Before twelve o'clock what did dc? .A 

side. 

Where.? A •Outside -looking for the chauffeur.. 

Around noon just exactly where 'were you at dinner time? 

.A I was down at. the dock.. 

Q, Where? A Right over here (illustrating) 

Q, Near the engine house!? A Yes; sir a little further. 

Q, Who was with y ou at that time? A Toe, he is not 

here; and a couple of more men there. 

Did you hear or see .1r.' Rafferty? A Ye; sir; l• seen 
-.A.... 4, 



lot of men. 

Q .Where did you see him? A I seen him betweenr- tb. door o 

- the shanty. 

3etween the Shanty door? A yes, sir 

What ,did you see.anybody do? A I seen him throw up 

his hands like this (indicating) towards the 54th street side, 

'pis hands like that. 

Moved his hands to the 54th street side?  A Yes,sir. 

Q, What else? • A And then I --

V. 
0 Please speak a little slower and mane distinctly? A 

I saw the defendant strike the other man in the' face. 

Q, Sam who strike? A That man there. (Referring to 

the Complainant.) 

0 Strike whom? A Da... Pope. 

Q You  saw the complainant strike Jr. Pope? A YesIsir. 

Q..Vhat else did you see? A Then I seen the dock man 

come 'there and get hold of Pope by his neck and so he- stopped 

them. 

G. The dock. man? k Yes, sir. 

Q Did J you see arlybody use a. broom? 

walk hack by the d..our ,and that man was there. 

Wh..,tt old 

I seen -pr. ope 

• fight with 7ope; this n ---n -v,-nted to fight with him. 

;ow1 ill you. -1e-aSe tell us. what you. saw •.thit. ran do. 



pinched yr. Pope. 

What else did he say? A The other man--

Who? A The other man. 

9..7Hfe, COURT: Who is the man? 

THE WITNESS: The otherma,n I did not know his 

(Indicating the complainant) A Yes, that than over 

What, if ,Jnything did he do? A Pope, withdrew back-

wards against the wall, and there against the wall laid the  

broom, and Pope then raised the broom, and. he said, -"Get away 

from here . Then he. called two or three men standing at a c.er-

tain distance, be called them to help him, and then whelie 

Ch 

ap-

r • proaed othes-th several towards Pope -- Pope then 

hit him-with the broom on the head. 

Towards this man OM AMP,. When Pope went b towai'ds, 

gine house office, 7, hat did this man dc as Pope backed 

up? A He was calling with his hands to these men to come along 

ail then h 1,*s.n.tiking a motion to strike with his clenched hand. - 

Did pope strike this man with his fist at any. 

time? No, sir. 

Q, Did you see the catamaran that day? AYes, sir, 

saw it in54th street; he was right in front there it is a 

derri ck, 

Q How long 

a half. 

did you; use that derrick? -A. Six ye,-..ixt 



• •• • 4..W.••• 

CROSS  ,Eri.AkNA. TI ON BY . WALLACh.'' : 

HowQ.  long have you known the defendant Pope? A _Seven 

years. 

Q, How long did you work for him? A Six years. 

Q, When did you stop working for him?' A Well between 

the Z4th or 25th of June. 

• He is interested in the business in .v.rhich u. are now • 

.employed?., A No sir. 

Q, Now did you t estify • in theMagi.etratest court atie 

• request of  of thi defendant? A They. • did not send .for izie I 

was there, but they did. .no t cal 1 me. 

_ You were 'the're but they did nOt call' you A No sir. 

You .sa3r that you were on this pier or. thereab'outs on 

the third of April, 1919? A Yes sir. 

• You were buy with your men, were yo A It was 

noon. 

• Q, How many men did you have directly under your supervis-

ion t tht time? A 14 or 1 

9, 14 or 15, What -sort of men, laborerCi A Laborers,:. 

yes, sir. 

•.Q, -Who • wo rk e e. fo-r you? A. The ch - uff eur 

Q They erov -3 thetruck? A Yes ,sir. 

Lot or trucks? A Yes, sir. 

. And th,.: people tha t loaded them? A Yes, sir. 

Q. Hpw many nen werc with you there 

o'clock on April 3rd?-• A Eight or nine. 

the tirne.:' at. 12 
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•  

r nine A Yes, 

Q, They eli worked for Pope, didn't they? A Yes sir. 

How far away *ere you from the scene of this quarr 

when you first noticed it going on? A About fifteen feet aw 

9, About fifteen feet way? A Yes., sir.. 

Q Near enough to hear loud voices, 'but not' near enOLi 

to hear what Ikas eing said? A I could. hear, 'but 1 din  

• hear what it was about. 

You were no,. Close enough to distinguish what was be-. , 

ing said? A No, sir. 

Q How long- do ydu think fifteen 'f'e et is as far a's this 

man or the wall or what? A Prom this witness Chair (Indicat-

ing the witness chair) to the lawyer for the defendant. 

These men were talking in a loud zone of voice? A At 

first they talked- loud. 

Qi • Well, what. did they Say? A I heard them sayi.ng"it. •. • 

is my derrick." 

Wh said that? 'A Tha,t man there which I pointed 

to before sitting there in the court room. 

He said" that is my derrick". A Yes , sir. 

eau r. e say? A And pope sad o it is my 

derrick. 

Q • Did ,A Then he asked....Pope„ "Who. . 

. are yole. 

Yoi: did hear what was said then, ciidn it you„? A Yes, 

sir, when I Jpproached ner them I heard.. 



approaah? A In four or five minutes. 

ey were there for four or five minutes before you 

went towards them? A Yes, edr; I a.pproa41ied closer and I heard 

them. 

Q, How far, away were you when you h_ad approached closer? 

Vitteen teet.. 

Q Still fifteen feet? A yes, sir. 

• When ;•1,rou first heard the conversation going on you 

'wer ther away - than fifteen feet, is thut right ' I 

was' fifteen feet. 

Q Then you approached. closer, an .• you ..i.ivere .still -fifteen. 

.,feet away,. is that eo? A X 

Q how far were you aw ay vhen you did approa.ch?: 

feet. 

Q, About eight feet? A Yes  sir. 

About as far .as from me' to you? 

tie further.. 

Q. A little yet? A Yes., sir.' 

About that far away (Illustrating) 

Xes, sir 

You were • there • before a blow -was struck? You. were - 

within say .tweive feet', is that right? A• Yes, 

3,1ow, you cou.1( hear everything, could. you? Yes 

4, They vrere talkinFin pretty loud:voices, this tiir.e? 

A Yes, sir. 

Now what did you hear fter you were this far away? 

A Then after .he ic that is E,y 'derrick Pope sair( ""That is 



d.errick,"-, tha.t man sitting in court here I heard 

say to Pope "You a,re 

You hearing is getting better now that-you are twelve 

sway from the sOene'?---A I apProached closer then. 

Now after • the complaining witness-,. Rafferty: said. 

o the defendant Pope what did Pop _ ao -if anything? ( 

Q, _bid Pope get angry, did they strike -t each other or 

anything like that'? A At the same time that this man there 

in the courtroom called Pope  a"Ginny son of bitch" he saic 

"I will show you who I am", and struck him. 

g, Now !i•ou say he call ed him a Ginny son of a bitch"? 

E.; truck • A 'Yee, sir. 

C;c, Rh at did Lope do'? 

"are you crazy- . " 

(4, Pope ici 

th. en -P op e wa withdrawing backwards and' he was corning towards 
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• dr wing backwards. 

(I Did you go 

was looking. 

his assistance? A No, 

You were looking? A Yes.r. si 

Did any of your 

A •No, sir. 

Q, 

Q. 

eral men who 

eight or nine men g 

You _waited to see what he would. do? 

Is that right? 

what did he do? 11 

Yes 

Well, that man there 

were •st-anding there "Come on and we 

the Ginny son of bitch. If 

ic tie say that to 

Dit. he say th 

asked sev-

will kill 

you? A Pope withdraw backwards 4 " 

t to you and your crew dr some oller. 

men that were there? A No, sir, not to my crew at all; they 

were standing at a distance. 

Q, Bid; he- say to 

only asked some of them• 

. them over. 

.Dio he say it to one of th previouswitness-

Who is OrN-eill?. 

A man whom y up. have seen on the witness stand or 

here . in th c.7! cour t am? 

st, 

I-7r. Loran, the watchman? sir. 

Who were standing there, he called 

sir, I did nc, t see him. 

How far away were these men to  Nth on. he s.4.1this?  

A. About twenty feet .43t.iay ; d not measure it. 

Q, 'York did not .r.fea,sur e it? • A No, sir.' 

Q They -ere .ri_L ch. further avvay fr CM the. scene thn you 

fi 



When you heard him -say th 

Ginny son c b.itch", what did you do, anything? A I diEdnt 

say anything nor co !i.ny thing; I stood there. 

What did Pope do? A Pope was withdrawing backwards 

all the time. 

e has. been Ik,,ithdrz.iwing now for sometime. Come 

. the end of the :,...ithdrawing scene. What did he do after he 

'stopped? 

YR. ARANOW: I object to that question.. 

TH ir COURT: It is bad in form. 

Q After he thr ough. withdrawing iivh.;_tt id he do, if 

anything? A He --,,Tithdrew ..,,gainst the 'Pall of the shanty. 

Q, We :;_-re through with the withdrawing, I s.,2.iC after he 

got through withdrawing what did he do? A He took this brOom. 

Q, -He took the broom? A Yes, sir.. 

Q, What, if anythi.ng, did he do with the broom? A he 

took the -broom, ,A,nd he said to this man •"1:1-(et away from me • Or 

l hi t: you with  it. " 

Q At this time was his back against the shanty? 

*ARANow-: I obj ect to the question. 

. FALL AC ff. : T.t • 15 proper question., 

ARANGW: I .2M addressing myself to the Court. 

THE COT.TFO-: Ask .hii if. his. back.was to the shanty? 

Vfashis b ack to A. Yes  sir. 

Q So that he could .no4-; get at the man u t there? A N 



•Th n what did he 

A He told him 

attitude and then it was he struck him. 

Q How did he strike him. He took this broom in his hand? 

Yes sir. 

Q Nr. Pope had this brvom in his hand didn't he? 

.sir. He found it there a,ainst the: shanty. 

Q, H e IL his hand? A Yes, 

Q He raised it up, didn, t he? A Yes, 

Q, Did he hit the shanty when he raised it up, was he so 
• 

close th.af.it h"it he shanty when he brought it back? .A 

•sir, he raised it in front, of him._ 

In -front- of him? • A Yest., §iT • right Side.ways. 

The shanty 1.4asn t so close to . interfere with him? 

A. NO sir. he was -standing against the shanty.; and he was hold-

ing the. o4.. sideways. 

Well, now, after he got it in that position. at did. he 

do? A Then he struck hit. 

Q, Struck this man here? A. Yes; si 

Q, Whereabout,s?„ A Cm the head. 

Q. ‘vb.,L-1. , p er that? A 'Then the 'Nat chman 

canie nd he seized .I'dije o3r the. 4r. 

Q, Wher  lI th then that Raff er 1-y- were calling to? 

A They .were away t -F:en ty feet. • 

They • di On., t cove 0.p near the Men, ie they? A 

at•no times. did they con: e because -I thought he was striki 



them they c ame. 

Q, They didni I., come up near Pope after Ile struck 

y, did they? A • No • sir. 

Q, Did, they? A No , sir. 

ARANOW: I obj ect to the manner ix  which counsel 

is asking the questions. This is cou.rt room. 

iJ COURT: proceed.. 

BY VE. TALL AC 

Q, At ri,rtim3 after. 1r. Pope 1 ai d yr . Raf fer ty iow.with 

this bludgeon did .a.'nybody come up? 

JviF. AR.ANOVT: I - obj. ec t to that as being entirely 

improper and based on a- statement npt in e,J-idence. It is 

• his own staterLent. 

COURT: There is no evidence to show that he 

laid. him low.. 
. - 
Q, Well, fter he struck him ;with this broom, did anybody • 

strike 'Iva-. Pope or offer him any violence? A No, • sir, b 

cause the watchman had him. by the neck. 

Q, Just 'one man had him by the neck. is that right? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, One 3.,a,n? Yes, sir. 

The t chic, an? A y s, sir. 

tct, Is th r .11.? A yes, sir; nd the others were all 

around him. 

Q, Did the watchman strike Pope? .4 

e shook h im? A Ye s 
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-,Did he strike him A No, sir, I didntjt, see , that. 

In the me4ntime yo ll did nothing during I thit' 

t rbation but just stand -Nnd look, it that right? A Nolsir. 

'Nhat did you do after it was all over? A Pope told 

the forepian who. wasJstanding there to go and call the police. 

foreman iiiras there. 

P,:...263 tol hiri that? A Yes; sir. 

Q, It mi.k311 t Ir. Rafferty or Yr. Ivioran that called the 

police, it was Pope is that right? A Yes, sir; he says g 

and get the cop. 

- 
J.Vow,' when .you saw Ir. Rafferty 'struck on'th.e head. did 

you see the broom break? A Yes, sir. 

Q, you did? A yes, sir. 

Q, So it was rather a. hard blow a. parently?, 

_ IR. ARANOW: 1 object to that. 

Tilt? CCURT: Quest on excluded. 

Q, Did he strike him hard or did he bring the br.00m down 

gently'? A e couldn t possibly hit him hard because his back 

was g.in.st the shrity. 

So he did/1'1f it him'hard? A No, sir. 

Q, just. easy? • ;gut very easy. 

Q, What do very easy? • A Just r_aised 

Just havl enough to break the stick of he broom? 

Yes sir. 

.Low, you C.:1y 



a witness Called on be 

at 764 8th avenue.). 

DIRECT IMANINATION BY Ih. ARANOW: 

Q, Do you ak Fnglish? A Yee - sir. - 

Q, How long in this country? A Eleven years. 

Q, that dod you, work at? A The Colonial Sand Company. 

trillere?- A 57th street dock. 

you rem emb er the day s of the fight? 

What were you doing•:about twelve o'clock •tht day? 

I was stndin.round the dock. I am the dock foreman. 

Q, Did you ee tha. t man .10r. Rafferty there at day? 

Q, What. didyOu •see.- him.. do? ...4_  - I.  seen hit,. 

there., :and tnis gentleman coming out of the office. 

. Mqat office? A The office down the dock. 

picture.- Show me just where yoi saw 



came out.first? A That gntlemn c e out 

Q, Who followed? 

Where did they go'? A They were about 4 ve or aix feet 

away from the shanty, nc I been 1hr Pope poin L with his 

hand to the west , to the uitown side 

Did you hear conver sat ion? A No, sir. 
• 

'the nextthing you saw? A What I heard? 

Was lir Pope 'vas saying that is my cat am .4r an 

else? A. And this ma,n was saying no it .was his. 

Q, What • then? —X— Pope asked _him who he was a.n3r 'way. 

Who ar e v ou anyway" . 

Wh t- did he s a.y ? A Vho are you. 

Rafferty say? A Never mind riho I arri I will 

show you who am. 

Q, What happened? A He  punched . him in the face, Called 

him a "Ginny 8611 of bitch" and punched him. 

A Rafferty punched Pope. 

t.di.d ?dpe A Backed up , and he sai s 

the matter with you., he pa.cked up 4s as 

II9Nly did he 



Rafferty was fighting him. 

Q, Mat did Pope do? A. He got close to the• shanty nd 

c. T-ghtholci of the bro that stands by the shanty no he hit 

him right in the head. 

Q, .that, did you do, if _knything? A I wa ndiri there, 

nothing. 

Q' You are still working for Mr. Pope? A Yes sir. 

. nen you &aid he called couple of men did you see 

the men? A They were men on the dock; none of them mOved 

0, How many Men Were there about? A: Three or four 

standing on The dock. 

gp. • Q, Did you see the dock watchman comeup? A Yes, -sir 

Q, Rhaf did he,do? A He caught • hold of Pope by the 

neck, and TTr. Pope Said, "Let me go, I won't run ...ri.a.y".The watoh 

man cught hold of Pope by the neck and he said "Let Me gc;" .and 

he told Ye officer. I sent a boy or one•Inan'sxound. • 

the block to get the officer. 

Q Who told you to get the offider? A kr. Pope. 

CROSS EXANINATION BY R. FALLACE: 

Q,-• How long have youknown lir. Pope? A, I have known ham 

about eightyears. 

.AE'AN0V,,r; Plese pardon me a. moment: 

1ViR. fiR,ANOW-: 

Q, You know that catamaran? A Yes, r . 

Q. - How long naveou used that? A am using it 

about Six-y are.: 

LAJ 



Working for him for eiit years? A Yes, sir. 

You knew hirr before you worked for him? A Ye 

How long before you worked for him did ;>Tou know him? 

A About two years. 

Q. A friend of his'? A Yes, sir 

Qlor how long? A fell  as Cng as I know him. 

Q Yor eight 3r mrs? 

Now his foreman? A Yes, sir. 

Q On the day in question you were his foreman? A 

Q, The 3rd of April? A Yes, sir. 

Q, How many- n.en did you ha.ye under yoUr control? A Your 

• Q All Italians? A Yes, sir. 

another foremarl here who also had a. number 

of men under him`ri A TTP  s the outside foreman. 

Q. How 1ny rrcm did he -have Under him? A - Well, he was 

taking care of the rlriyers. 

Q This about .twelve clock..noon? A - Tweiv.e. o'clock 



nal; yras his name? A Joseph Mar suli 

A. fri end of yours down th.ere? A No, sir. 

Q Who i he a driver for? A Driving for the ColOnia.l. 

Q For. Pop e? A Yes, sir. 

cl Did you testify in .th.e ligagistrates, Court? A No, 

I did not.. 

ily not, Were you called there? . A I was not called. 

How fr on you wasP op 6 and yr. H if er ty th en you 

first noticed that they were talking together'? A About ten or 

twelve feet.. 

V, 'Ten or • twelve feet?.  A Yes, sir. . 

Q, What were they doing - in that Vicinity? A .Staxiding 

'watching,around • the 'menthat ran over.. , • 

Standing watching the. men-..- .two of your on men?. 

Yes, 'sir, two of themen who were pulling a. 'barge. 

Q How many feet were you from Pope? A About 12 •feet.. 

Q, Just as far as from you to that man there? A Yes ,sir. 

q They were . all Italians, were they? A Yes, sir. 

gthen you first saw Pope and • Ti  r. Rafferty- what were 

T1.3 elf-. doing?. 'A They ,,,,Tere.- talking, an-d I saw Yr. Pope ..pointing 

to the uptown side. 

When you •fir' st saw Pope and Reff exty there talking, 

Pope ,was pointing? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did 7iou hear ht ;they said? A Heard them talking 

about L1 c -it a/tar n Pop e -says it was hi 8.. 

V 



were close enoui.. to .h ear that? A Yes 

Q• After Pope said the catamaran was his nd Rafferty 

t was his what "happened? A Pope asked h "Who 

• anyway". 

Q, What did Rafferty say? A Never mind who  I a.m. 

Q, What happened after that  A "You Ginny son of a 

bitch." and he punched him in the. face. 

Q He said, "Nevermind. who I am, you Ginny son of bitch? 

A Yes sir. 

Q, Is that: right? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Then he :punched Pope in the face? A Yes 

Q, That is the first real trouble that there was? A Yes. 

Q Is thatright? A Ye. g sir. 

Q. 

at Pope? 

What did 3i-ob do ,anything? A No, sir. 

Just stood there to see wha:t wa,s going to happen? A Yes . , 

What happened after that when Rafferty took 2 this punch 

A As Raft erty TAW2i calling the men lier.Pope backed up. 

Q Rafferty -vas calling the men? A '?"es, sir. 

Q, How did he call thenl?A "Come over here we are going 

ti'im this Ginny fellow up. 

q To vinarii did he call? A just three or four men who 

stood, on the dock. 

11 'How' far away from. the scene of the conflict were :they? 

They stodd on _th.e corner taldng lunch Out 120 or. 130 feet. 

Q About 125 or 130 feet away? A Yes, sir. 

Q, He yelledpretty loud "Come over here we • are going to 



•:•-•• 

Yes, sir. 

once jumped over to punish him, 

was here; I was coming over. 

Ilou just saw it. A Yes, sir. 

Q. And these men carpe right over? A They did not:, .n 

.c1 They didn't seem to pay much attention to Raff erty? 

sii. 

Q. Then after all this happened, after ,he call ed the Men 

and after the men did not come over, what took pl4ce then? A He 
_—

followed him 

up. 

Did he keep on retiteating? A Pope kept backing 

•Q, How long was he backing up? A About eight or nine 

• feet until he got, to the shanty. 

Q, He couldn't go ack any further? A NO, 

Q, He • didn, t go in the shanty. door? A No lair . 

(4, The broom was standing there *right alongside of it 

like that? A- Yes; sir. 

Q, What 'happened as reg arde the broom,, what did. he do? - 

A He caught hold of the. broom; .and he says, • "DOntt come nearer 

•or I will hit you." 

(4, He caught hold of it and said, ".Donrt come n earer or I 

. will hit you?' ,A Yes, sir. 

Q, .That didn't bother Rafferty,.  he trent right on? A. Yes. 

, Kept right on g6i.riP... after Pope? A Yes, 'sir. 

q With his fist? A Yes, 
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Q Did he make any attempt to strike him? i With vhat' 

Q, Before he struck Pope he c ught hold of. him A Yes) 

sir, d he hit "h m with the broom. 

A hard blow? A I don't know how hard; I can't explain 

myself; seen him hit him. 

9, Did the stick b rea.k? A Yes, sir. 

that. 

Hard enough for that , en 't it? Hard enough for 

9. What happened after that?. A The foreman on the dock 

got hold of Pope) and hit hi m. 

Q, Di dn t the watchman: hit ,P op e? A NO, sir. 

Q, Did anybody hit Pope after that? A No , sir. 

• .c1 that _did these men that were 120 or 130 feet away do -

did they come rushing up -.-t.fter you saw Rafferty' strike or hit 

Pope?. 

ARANOW: I obj ect to that. 
cs 

Q,• What did all these men do who were 120 feet away?A. 

it was rushing up to see what was the matter. 

• Q, lam talking about. the men, did they run up? A Yes  

sir, they came over. 

Who were they? -A I don't know them. 

Q, Did they do thing? A No sir. 

Q, Struck nobiJdy? A No sir. 

Q, Hit Pop e?, A No sir. 

Q, igh at did :,7 Q.11 do after all this -took place? A Rope . 

told' me to get an officer. 

Wain, 

0 



Yoi g 

I- sent another man. 

Who was he? A One driver. 

Q, What was his name? A It is John. 

Q17 John what.? A  I don know his second name. 

Q, Now, -Rafferty was bleeding pretty much from the cut on 

his headlwasnit he? A Yes, 

Q, Did you see any marks on Pope? A 

I told Pop e he was bleeding from his lip. 

..You told him so? •• A Yes, sir.. 

Q, Where he got struck? A yes, sir.. 

..Q, Did you go to the station house? A NO1i3iT. 

Q See the policeman come up?.- A Yes, sir. 

Q, Were you there when he came.up? A Yes, sir. 

BY 'RI I-k:URT1-1 JUROR: 

Q that door of the Shanty open or closed during :the 

day . A Closed. • 

Closed all day? A Yes,. sir. 

0, A sign was on that door? A Yes,' 

BY. hR. AR ANON : 

When you 8id you noticed some blood on Pope's lip, 

vt'rli en as that? A Tht was right ter he hit. him with the 
_ 

broom. 

JA 1.1; S AZILLI a ins called,on 'o eh .Aa.f of the 

defendant; testified as follows: 

(The viiitness states, he lives it 522 West 49th Ea, 're e t. ) 

.pIEFITT itkAISTOA. TION BY 111k. ARANO*" : 



What is your business? A Iceman. 

With whom do you vvork? A I am working 

company. 

.Q Where located? A 633 West 47th street. 

r the ice 

Q,' How long are you working for that company? A Working 

now about f.oUr months. 

Q Where did-you work before that? A Colonial Sand & 

Stone Co. 

Q Where are  they located? A 615 West 49th stree 

Q Now do you remember the day of the fight? A Yes, sir. 

Q What ire you doing that day? A I -was going by 

engine room. 

ci I show you this picture-- A 'or a, pail of water. 

You were' going to the engine room.for pai1 .of water? 

.A Yes, sir. 

Q just vhat -room do you mean, point it put? A (Witness 

indicating) This here. 

Q That one there? A Yes, sir; where these 'Jar e inen 

are standing. 

What time Wd.S that? A It is oout ten dr quarter 

ter t-velve something like that. 

Ten mini) t. or a quarl er .a.f• • twelve? A Yes ,sir. 

S ,ak louder? 

Do- you kno 

Yes sir.- 

. Pope? A Ye q .sir.-. 

How lortg? A About f5 or 7 years, 

vcotl. liiee that man Yr. R f erty .there? A Yes, sir. 

dic You see him Oa. A A the zi?r,e I vbgoinz 



the elgine room X-,seeiy1 this man he pointed t 

he says, did he want to fight--" he ca34ed some 

ang standing on ,the dock and ltEr. Pope was stztnding by 
••••• 

.the shanty where the office is e.nd SO , Mr. Rafty.sasirCoe. 

on men we are going to lick this Glinn3r son of a bitch here." Ile 

was getting near to .T,rr." Pope and Pop e didn, t See  the broom be-.../ 

hind him-- he is standing there at the back side of the shanty. 

Q, What did he do? A He .pulled the. broom and he lifted 

the brooM and he says to Ir. Rafferty "Here don't come, near-

and Yr. Rafferty- went too close to him, and when pope seen 

Hafferty with. Pope he let go of the, broom, and hit this man 

• on the top of the head. 

Q, What else h app en ed th ei.? A Tha,tris all. 

Q, Did you see the dock watchman? A Yes sir, then the 

. dock watchman came and grabb ed. Arr. Pop e by - the neck. . 

Did you hear Ir. Pope call this man a cock sucker, 

man Raff s-ty? A No, sir. 

Q,. Did you see . Pope strike Rafferty in the face or 

punch him': in. the face? A No, sir. 

• 

Q, -Where _did' the watchman come from, where was the -watch-_ 

wan?' A He. was in some place' on the 12th alr awe side 

CROSS DCAMINATIOi BY" IJR. i.A.LL.ACE: 

That. is the name? A Mazilli. 

- Did you testify in the, 1A.Jagis, es' Court? A No,s1.. 

'Never testified. in cour del re,•• in this case? A  
-.• 

This is the. r s 4.; i /Ts ou nv en ca,11.ed? A Yes, -E.4fLx 

v 



How lon have you. known.,Pope? 

Related to him? A 

A relation of his? A No, sir. 

Q• Work for him? A Yes, sir. 

Q, How long? A Not now. 

Q, When did you quit Working for 

months ago. 

Q, Who do you work for now? A Henry Ruddy, the Metropol-

itan Ice Company. 

Q, You were on that day, on the 3rd 

you? A Yes, sir.. 

- 
him? A I quit about f ur 

• Q, ...What was your business when you worked for Pope? A _ 

was driving a truck, I was driving', 

Q, How did you. happen to. be -.;xourid the place  where this. 

thing ocdvrred? -A Because it was dinner hour,. the drivers of, 

trucks we try to load before dinner.. 

Q, A couple • of men loading .truck was there? A No 

was the last one loading. 

•Q, • Wh.Q was • there besides you?. A .Well, dn 

the engineer' was there" • 

Q The. engineer was there? A es,.sir; he was wOr-king on. 

of the er4;ine room. 

Q, What was his name? A Ioouldn,t tell you. 
the 

Was", checked in the office?, A NO, sir,. I dont know. 
.-• 
You • don rt know? A 'No., sir, . I did. not see him. 

N W you y you were going .engine room for  •40me 

A 

_1^ 
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purpose? A Yes, sir. 

Q, What were you going there for? A I went fo 

water to water the horses. -

Q To water the horses?- A Yee, sir.. 

Q, Is that. lit:ere, you get your water?. A Yes, 

Q As you went to th nr1ne r oorn what if :rly thij'ag. di d . 

you hear'? •A. I heard or seen this jr. Rafferty outside ..and he 

going With his ha.nds like this nd I., the .same time he call 

'a couple of men fr crii the dock. 

Q, Where were they? A I couldn't tell you there were 

men from that dock, I don't know and he ,suys "Come on aver". 

Q, How fr -•-t.'fray were they? A About thirty feet. 

Q, About thirty feet away? 

there were there. 

TWR.-ARANOW; I obj ect 

I 'told. you; 7 don't know how many: / 



lookingover there. 

Q, What happ en ed.—of t er That? A ,After that this kir .Raf - 

ferty wa.'s stilj getting near lir. Pope and V.T. Pope was starting 

He W.Swith his back ,against the shanty? 

How long did he stand with his back ag.a.inst the shanty 

while iti;r.1 Rafferty vas sparring? A Not. very long. 

Q, How long about? A Going like this, fighting. 

there any word passed between 

Q, No words at al 1? A No, 

Q Did he say anything at 

Q, Did Ruff er ty say anything? A Mr. er ty says "Did 



He hit. hiM? A •Yes, 

like this (i dicatin 

What happened to the broom, did it break? A Y 

Jus t let --i t go easy n.d. it broke? A Yes, sir* 

Q, Did you see Rafferty bleeding? A Yes, sir. 

You saw the blood c omi n :wn? A Ye; 

What h•-aPpene d after That is all. Then ..0inte 

watchman - came from th e 52nd street dock came up sno he grab 

bed Mr. Pope by his neck. 

Q, Did he hit him? A No, sir. 

Q. He didn't hit him? A. No, 

Did anybody hit Pope aft er that? A Nc sir. 

Q, These men that Rafferty were, calling did they come up? 

A I didn, t see nobody- come up. 

9, You di dn, t see anybody come up? A No-, sir, I just 

seen the watchman come up. 

Q, What dia the watchman d.o yd. th Pope did he take him 

any place? A No, he just -- kr. Pope said  "Leave 

Q, What happened after tht• did. you stay the 

A No, sir, I went ri away. 

Q You went about your ousiness? A Yes, sir. 

not go to, the kagistrat,es, Court? A 



A The 1ái/yet. 

Q, When,-wais this? . A -About two weeks after the--

Q Two ,weeks after? A Yes, sir, and then 

about once more. 

In the Nagistratest Court, did you take 'the witness 

staid to testify? A Yes,  sir. 

ARANOW: He was not 

A No, sir, I -%rras not there.. 

Q,• Now while *1 this fight was going on you 

take any part in it?"--.A. Not sir, not at all. 

•QWht did.you..hear Rafferty -call a.nything? - 

.A Called him-- he didn' t call Rafferty,. call .him anything 

said,  "Come on we are- going to ,. lick this Ginny son of a bitch' 
- 

here." • 

Q, Who said this? A Rafferty. 

Q, What did he say en Rafferty called them? _ A H 

say a word. 

9, He just backed up? A -Ye; ,r. 

1) R. RICHARD II 0.17 11 M A N • a. witness called on behalf 

o f • people . being duly sworn, s-?..stifi ed s. 

(The tes he lives at 10-37 Ma,dison avenue...) 

:DI R.d7C XiINAT ION By. ItR: AR.ANOT: 

Q • Are you connected with any insti tut ion? A Yes, sir. • 

:hat institution.? A -Post Gractuat e Hospital• at the. 
, 

present time. 

Q Where is that located? A 28th street and 2ndvenue. 



Q COnn ect ed with iat institutions? -A The Mount Sinai 

S"f0iPElPiti n on Randall 's Tsland, the 'Manhattan State .1‘n. r-

the Post Graduate. 

• Q: Did you make nexamin at ion of the head of ;the c 0M-

plaining wi these? 

you know 4.t thz time actually as to. how the .OlOw 

was struck? .A -Yes, 'sir-. 

Q, DIcL.you examine the wound? A I. did, yes, sir. „ 

•  Q, Will you describe to the jurr the wound as you mw 

WALLACE.: I would like to obj ec-t testi-

mony of thi svvi tness on the ground that it is incompetent, 

irrelevant and immaterial. No testimony ha.s been given 

And .ther..e*is no testimony before the Court calling for any 

rebuttal or any repisr by this witness. 

TH8.! .CPURT: I will 'let him describe whq,t he saw. 

He may describe the wound :5 he saw it. 

Qi Tell us what you saw? A About' 2 1/2 inches above' -the 

ear and somewhat behind the middle of the 

that would. ‘nin fr on-, here to here in I.na section therelike this 

(-indicating) there is scarcel visible a small scar, small *).O 

round about a half. an inch in size; there is absolutely no Sign 

of anystitches having been placed in it. 

• BY lliff COURT: 

nlri. te finn th,A s.:;:t.11,PF:? A You  yrcpi d find' 



40, 
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a scar of the stitches. You see when you euture :a 

wound where you insert your needle .it will show it will 

ow just where ,you insert your needle and it will. still be 

visible in the skull, some of the needle puncture. 

BY MR.WALACE: 

Q, How long after? A 1? r ll time, the scar never dis-

appears. 

Q, Do you mean to say there is nc scar on his head? 

scar • there .about half an inch in size. 

Q • You 'mean. you saw no breaking of the skin? - A • 'Yes ,sirs. 

Q, Do you say -there was  no breaking because there .i.s na 

needle ''puncture? ,A No needle 'puncture. of a suture; if it 

had been it was very superfiCia.1 and the sutures came out. 

was bold the sutures were' removed two or -three weeks atter; 

THT COURT: Strike that  out. 
BY 11B. ARANOW: 

Q, Doctor, where an abrasion of the-skin of the scalp is 

caused, can you tell u ,hether or not there would be bleeding 

and to inha.t m..tent would the bleedingflae? A Slight--

loR. WALLACE: I obj ec -, to that on the ground it is 

incoMpetent• and irrelevant. 

THE COURT: I woulc like to know something .about 

lils qualifications. 

R.ARA.NOW: He said he was connected with the POst 

Graduate Hospital at 28th street.d Second avenue. 

'Mil COURT: An: instiLution ',there they care for ner-

vous conditions. 



Have yOu. studied physiology? A Yes, sir. 

Q Und.er --wh-wt--nran-r7A. Dr. Vlin Austin 'Flint.. 

-Q, What other institutions have you studied' ph3rsiology in? 

No other institution; that vas one of my medical courses 

q, At Mount Sinai did you h e any wOrk 'in physi-Plogy? 
_ 

nly so far as in the course of ,he term physiology is 

ta.ught merely preparatory study. 

Q Did you have surgery :tad medicine in Mount ,sinai?An•B 

ItiR.  ARANOW: Does your Honor :still _hold you would, 

like to hear more of the qualifications of this r an? 

'THF. COURT: I would like to .know ho'w many times he 

has stitched wounds how many times he has extracted 

threads. 

BY MR. .CANO 

Q, How many times have 7rov aitu red wounds _yourself ? A Hun; -. 

d.r,ds of times. I served as: ,..zn interne in the Bellevue Lying-

In'Hospital and also in the Out Patient. department of the 

Ittiount Sinai Hospital. •1 

After t ger;t4in- period of time you removed them? A 

ways within a,period of five dys 

Q The • hol e. made by sutu.?-i,r)•_:- or the'wound h eaIs up' does 

it not? A The scar of the needl e-puncture remains always; .you 

-can always see i t. 

Q, What, do you suture with? A With any material, I do 

t care at. 

Q, Tell newhat material you use? A We usUally work 

4 



• 

is absorbed, isn't it? A Catgut yes, 

you usUally use catgut or you tzgrEfikaigc °Ise th. e catgut •„, 
• 

Lb 'absorbed and may 'carry infection and the wound may're-

wgz AGE : 

Well the scar made by .thitatever. it 

visible you_ :still have the pricke made 

did not detect them; I saw none there. 

Q• Will you state now that no stitches were ever put in 

this Man I s head as an expert? A I say that as far as I can 

see at the present time. 

Q .Nevermi.nd,,will you st at e?(No answer.) 

BY Me: COURT: 

Q, I want your opinion now. You claim to be 22 expert. 

Are you prepared to state now that in your opinion, there were. 

• no -stitches inserted in his head? A I can only say th,--a7e there. 

are now no Visible signs of stitches having been in it. . 

Q Are you prep wed to state in your opinion that there 

were. no stitches- placed. in his• head? A In my. opinion • there -

were no stitches pla,ced in hi head. 

BY IT. qvAtL 

Q, How long have you been -phy,bic..': an? A 12 years. 

How Lany cases hve you exin&d f old wounds there 

the wound: has healed? A They'were. innumerable. 

• You never found one in *hi eh you did riot find he. 



pnt of the la eedl 

ANOW 

Q Nay 1 inquire—. a bolo* or 1 ac erati on of the scalp 

will cause bleeding? A Blood will usually - flow in the 

Slightest scalp injury. 
BY NR. WALLACE: 

Q, Can you tell me whether you see agy in di cation' of 

,a wound on that side of my: finger? ( cating ) 

Q, You see that shows wound sewed up? A I would in-

fer that that itiound was never sewed. 

THE COURT: Strike that out. 

Q, Why did you testify as an expert here? 

4R. ARA/TOW : I broughtthisitari, if your Honor, 

please, to testify to something entirely different, 

haven t had ch ance to examine this men so far. 

WALL XE : I ant to find out if he  is an elcp er t 

your Honor. We have no evidence that he is an .1.p ert. 

THF COURT: You may. sk him some questions you thin.k - 

proper ir. .Artriow. 

RR. ARANOW: I wilL withdraw the witness. 

IR. WALLACE: No  fur th er questions. 

.NE POP , the defendant being duly sworn in his own 

U ehalf , testified as  f ollows: 

( The wi tness states he lives at 464 Park !:-.venue.) 

DI REC T .5.1A1vi I NATI ON BY RR. ARANO W 

Q How old are you? A 29. 

9, Are you married? A Yes sir. 



y children? A Yes, 

'Qs Live with your wife? A Yes, sir.. 

Q, How long have you been in this country? A 14 years. 

Q, Are you amitizen of the United, States? A Yes.sir. 

•Q,4„, How long? A Since I was 21 years of a,ge. 

Q,• How long - that? A Eight yearsgc. 

When did ynu first become ass oci at ed with the Colo-. 

nial Sand & Gravel Co.? A Seven years ago. 

Q, Is thata corporation? .A Yes, sir. 

Q. Are you one of its officers? A yes, sir. 

you recall the catamaran or mhatever that is? 

AYes, sir. 

Q, How long have you been with the Colobial Sand & Gravel 

GO.? A Since I have been with.the company-.-

Q. How manY years? A Seven years or. something like 

that. 

Q, When was the first time : anybody ever spoke to 

you about the ownership of the catamaran? A On April 3rd Yir. 

Rafferty came down the dock. 

Q, Where did you use that c,itazilaran? A Brooklyn, under' 

the branhat.tan Bridge, and down at Canal street fir the subway. 

Q, You have 1 e.ased certain pr op erty from the city up ther@ 
- 

A Yes, sir. 

4, That prop ...rty is that? A 52nd Ei.tre,e.t. to 54th street. 

Q, Fast or west of what? A Test of 12th ..:.venue to the 

river. 



Q, How long have you had that? A Since 

with the Colonial Sand Company, sevcitn years. 

Q, What did y ou, use that pr cp ck-ty- for? A Por 

sand and gravel and o th-er, things in our business .-

Q, Whefor the first time oid you see Ix. Rafferty? A 

my office down at the dock. 

Q, .When you say in youroffice Show me on the picture w 

you mean? A He came right in here, through, this door. -

Q Where the. cross is there? A Yes, 

Q. Was he outside the office or inside the office? A He 

was inside i the offiCe. 

Q What did he say to you and what didkou say to him? 

Why he said to mel "Are you Mr. Pope, the Colonial SandCo.? 

A I said yes. He said who told you to pull that catamaran 

-I said what catamaran. He said the catamran buried under the 

sand here. I said, why come outside and show me which one you 

mean. We—got a steam engine :And we n ever used it for two or 

three y 

•Q, Did you ever use that catamaran to unload or load. in 

the dock? A No, sir., not that.dock. 

Q, that have you got there? A A steam engine shown in 

that picture there. 

Q, You never used that cataxizan on that dock? A Nolsir. 

I walked out of the office after,--hiv,, an  pointed to 54th street 

and showed him if that was the catamaran he was. talking  about 
"eke tAAt6,, 7 

and he said yes. I sid, thy, ri, I 'flak it or my oWn 
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t 'your ow rrty.An 

said since am with the Colonial -Company, and he 

show you if• you pull That again what I will do to you if it 

yours or not, and I said whc e y ou anyway, and he s aid none 

of your damn business Who I am.. And I said if you don't. want 

tell me who you are I don' t want to talk to you at all II 

am ±hrough.witb you, and he says to me, "You Ginny Son of a 

bitch where did you learn thi in I Lal-Y" I and I said no I learn-

ed this right in this country, in. America, just as good an 

American citizen as you are, ,.v,nd he said, yell I will ShOW 

you, and he punched Me right in the face. 

Q Where were you st anding .at that time? A Outside 

the office. 

Q, How far away? A About five or six feet from the 

Office. As soon As he punched me in the face I said"what is 

the matter. with you, what - the .hell. is the mat ter with you" I 

could not express myself an  I said, "What the hell is the 

ma,t-cer with you" and he said, tc pie-- he came and pulled me 

again, md he -.said. to the  other fellows, "Come on over we will 

killthis fellow here today." I couldntt get any further than 

the wall and he 1ArS C Ord. 1'4E,  tr.ds 1:,e. all -the time I saw the 

broom and p-icked up the brQ an, aria I ai6 to him, "Get away 

from me or .1 will hit you in th n-ead with It", he came. so far 

and I Let go of the broom. 

Q, Ho:w far awaY as he from you yhen you struck him wi 

the :croon? A About four cr five feet arva,-y.fr. am me. 



Did you 641 him a cock sucker? A' N 

At any ,time? A No, sir. 

Q, Was•he bleeding at -the' mouth? A No, sir-. 

Were you bleeding at the outh? A Yes,-sir. 

Who call ed your attention to it? A Joe, my foreman. 

This happened not in the public street out happened right 

leased property. 

Q, On your leased prop •Erty? A 

Q, He punched you? A Yes, si 

Q, How far away f t'om 12th av e-nu e was that..bout?a  A About. 

_125 feet. 

Q, Then he punched you did :.-ou walk back, turn around 

and back, how did you go back then? A I jumped away and re-

treated. 

Q, When you jumped back dir: he stop or follow you? A He 

followed Me all the. time. 

Q, Why did you strike him on the head with the broom, 

why? A I was :;fraid that they were going to kill: me. 

Q, Do you know that prtcf ish e broom hit- him? A I dont 

know. 

Do you know whether this p art or iie handle p art hit 

him? A No, sir I don tt know. 

Q, You saw him bleeding, fterwards? A Yes, sir. 

-Q, Did you try,to run agay? A No,sir:. 

Top take. nim to the station house in your car? . 



Q You drove it sir, my chauffeur drove" 

Q When 3roll'A°6141ce man to the station house wlio wa's 

A Rafferty, the officer and the chauffeur. 

Q The off ice and the chauffeur? A :Yes, 

Q in the station house was there any conversation be-

tween Rafferty and the officer? A Yes,.sire Raffty saye,to 

me in the station house he says "I got you just %here I want 

you, when I get through with you there will be a finish". I 

didn t make any answer to that. 

Q Did you tell the p eri an bou.t seeing red? A Never 

did., never spoke to the policeman. 

Q, Did you tell the w.t. clan ? A 

Q, II/loran? A No, sir. 

Q, That you saw red? A No, sir. 

Q, Did, you go into the shanty with the wa,tchman?after 

you hit him with the broom? A No, sir. 

Q, What did the watchman do? A He cal 'slat hold of me 

'by the neck, ano he shook me. 

Q,• What did you say? A I dd" did you do that 

for" , andI called ,Toe and 2I • -sen t him for an officer and then 

the officer came' I told the officer to have Raffetty under arrest ' 

'and the. offier told .me to go to the s'tatio'n house and I claimed 

I wanted Rafferty- arrested and they told me I should go up to 

the 54th ssreet court. 

6 



CROSS EXAMINATION BY lbs. WALLACE: 

Q- Did you take the.stan.d in the Magistrates' Court? A No. 

Did you waive examinatiron -after you heard what the. 

People'v witnesses said? A Yes, al, . 

Q, So this Ts the first time you have taken the stand in 

your own behalf? A Yes, sir. 

Q, gave you ever been convicted of a crime? A Disor-

derly conduct five dollars r ine , 

Q Whereabouts ? A In the 54th street court. 

Q That was the disorderly conduct? A He fined me five 

dollar s. 

Q That did you do? A We had s4. little talk with a 

*dollars. 

Q, Were you ever convicted in Jersey? -A No, sir. 

Q, Sure about tha,t? A Yes, sir. 

Who was the Judge -who fined you five dollar's? A 

dont t know his name. 

Q How long ago is that? A Abon t I don't rem emb etr., 

adouty earagaibaigasthing like that . 

.we talk ed to each other and they. t. col( e ip there. 

Charged- With 'disorderly conduct? A (No- :,,Ai4sliirer*..) 



• Q How •much do .you weigh?- A About around 216! , 

Worked had all your life? A Yes, 

How many men have you got working for .you on this 

pier? A Well, sometimes fifteen  sometimes ten and some-

times twenty. 

There were a numb er f your m en that testifiedhere 

day who were at this quarrel with you and Raft* a-ty,werent 

THE COURT: It is not material. Mr. Wall aze did 

MR. WALLACE: Neither did youI thought if that 

such a good fighter he might have volunteered. 

Q, How palay tithes h.ve 70U aRsd in your .life to Mr. 

Rafferty? A ,This is th first tiMe. 



9, Know him. to pass him? A No, sir. 

(At this. point the Court admonished the jury and 

adjourned the further trial of the ease until tomorrç>v 

January 13th, 1919.) 
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TRIAL R.ESTT10E 

GINE POPS, the d,efendent resumes the sten 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY hIR. WALLACE: 

Q, I believe you  said yesterday, Pope tha.t you had never 

seen Rafferty before April A.d., the day when you had this 

quarrel with him? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Is that right? A Y sr, sir. 

Q What was the first :time you saw, him 

12 o'clock in .my office down at the dock. 

Q He was in your office? A yes sir. 

Q Now is this your office here (referring to the pho-

tograph) A Yes, sire here. 

Q, This whole building is your of fice td that Or 

te—that end of it? A This whole "A.Iilding hers. 

Q You were inside this building? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Wha.t were you doing there at that tLme? A At the 

dinner hour I was there with the checker when the checker . 

goes out to lunch. 

Q Was the sign no admittance on the door? A Yes sire. 

Q The door shut or open? A Shut. 

Q Shut tight? A yes, sir. 

Q, You did not see Rafferty until he opened .the door and 

came in? A Yes, sir. 

Did he close the door behind him? A There is a 

spring on the door it closes by itself." . 



He went your office.? 

Q What took place inside your office? A 'Rafferty. asked 

me who told you to touch .that catame,ran 

Q What did you say? A I said, what catamaran do y 

a.nd he said the catamaran outside here, and I said 

come outside with me and show me vvhat you mean, and I showed 
• him up 54th street., and .said,. is that the one you mean- and 

he said, "That's the one I mean." 

Q Be talked a.bout the catamaranin your office, and then 

you both went out of the office? A Yes, sir. 

that right? A Yes, sir. 

.g So up to the time you left the .office there was 

trouble? - A No, sir. 

Q And the quarrel you had-with him was not occasioned 

by his coming into your office that lArd. s not the cause of your 

trouble? A What do you mean? 

Q, :Up to the time that you had left your office with 

admittance sign on the door you hadn't any trouble with him? 

A No, sir, no trouble with him in the office. 

Q, If he had walked away at that time there would not 

have been any trouble if he •Aent on his way? • A If he walked 

away. 

So you are out now, a.way from the office,where did 

you go? A Five or six feet. . 

Q; Is that right? A Yes, sir. 
Q. At no time did ,rou get more thn 5 or tf, feet 



• m- • 

• thing like that. 

q In other words you -opened ttle  door, and you stepped out 

and Stou walkeil probably as far as  from here to there, and you 

said he pointed? A Yes, sir; he pointed to the catamaran. 

Q Now when you got to this point you say five or six feCt 

about from the office door What. conversation took place then , 

between you and r. Rafferty? A I told him "Why can't I' 

toulth my-property, and Irr. Rafferty says "Since when• Is it 

yours", and I told him since I am with the Colonial Sand and 

Stone Company. He says to me if, you go and taixilk pull the,t 

catamaran &gain I will show you if it is yours. When--h 

said that I said who are you anyway? And he -said "NOne of 

your damned business who I am, and I said "If you don't say 

who you are I don't want to Speak to you at all. Keep away 

_ from my place. ye said where did you learn this in Italy, 

you Ginny son of a bitch", and he punphed meFight in the face. 

Q Now he said that and it was the start of the troubles 

wasn't it, "Where did you learn this, in Italy?" A Yesasir. 

Q- And he called youna Gitny son of a bitch?" A Yes lair. 

A, At  the time these three witnesses you produced here 

were standing around within a short distance, weren't, they? 

7 



Then he. struck y u, didn't he? A Yes. 

Q With ,what fist'? A With the _right flat. 

Wheredid he hit you? A The left jaw. 

Hit you down there? A Yes, right here (indicating) 

A little bit.higher?A Yes. -

Did you fall? A No, I didn't fall. 

Stagger/ A A littl 

Did .you hit him back? 

came in and picked a quarrel with 

Q You didn't say anything to 

A I certainly did not. I told him what is the matter 



he-

5 

You dldm t caJi k M-43, damned cock sucker or anythin 

of that sort? A No, sir. 

Do you know any reason whatsoever why this man 

struck you? A Yes, sir, he struck me when I asked kim 

.are you". 

Q, Without -.Any reason except you wanting 

moron? 

• MR. ANOW: I object to that. 

THE COURT: Let him state what the reason was. 

TH-e. wITNieSS: Well, itweis no reason when he struck 

me. 

Do you know of :.•iny reason? A I asked him "Who are 

you", and he got insulted because I 4sked him who he was, 

and told him keep away fr ari my property. 

That la the only reason he struck you? A Yes, sir, 

maybe some some other reason in a business way. 

Q Maybe some reason in a business way? A Yes, sir. 

Q, You never met the man before in your life? A No, but 

I heard what he has been doing. 

Q You thought maybe perhaps it was some business 

matter that he didn't mention at all , end for .that cause he 

struck you? A Yes sir. 

Q You did nt him him back? A No, sir. 

Q A man came right on your property and struck yo 

without 'any reason and you 'didnt t hit, him back? A I donut 
• n 

•know hOw to fight with the hands--I pushed him back. 



'w long halve you been rking there.. 'down .on •the-. 

dock? A: I. never worked an the dock; Iiaadn t been there.  

.. 

Q, Row long have you been there? A Six or seven year 

Q What did you do before that? A Superintendent for 

tie Manhattan Sand Company. 

Q The aim e kind of business? A Yes 

Q, Your own business you have there -now? A Yes, sir. 

Q Where did you work vzhen you were superintadent for. 

the Manhattan San Co.? A. All around New York, New York and 

all over. 

Around ,the river front? A Arounci 

."a figh 

Never saw a fight before I suppose, 

but I never fight. 

You dicin`jt fight? A No, sir. 

different buildings. 

Q Did you ever throw a brick at a canal boat captain, 

paned Clark and knock him fl-at—on his deck? A .No sir. 

Q You never fought with any one in your life? A Nolsire 

Q Now ycy were only four or five or six feet from the 

little office when Rafferty first Struck you, is that 

right? A Well, it is five or ten or twelvw, I did not meas-

izre 

Q You said five Pr six feet. Now is it five or six or 

twelve feet? A I didn't have a tape measure with mi.*, 

manY steps did you take after 

office? A. I did not count them. 

I 

you came out of the 



Did You have to walk away in order t, see what you 

• were pointing a 

out here in what 

that way? 

up. 

whereabouts d y u walk when you came 

direction was the c at amaran this way or 

That way (illustrating) 

Q As soon as you came out of the door? A Yes, 

Where that mark is? A No, sir Rafferty followed me 

Q As soon  as you came out of the door you could see 

the catamaran over here? A I had to walk down becauf3e I 

was here and you could not 'seethe catamaran from there. 

Q How far did  you walk? A Viire ten or twelve feet; 

something like that ,I didntt'measure it exactly. 

Q Now after he struck you, did you turn your back to 

him? A No, air. 

Q You walked away from: him? A Yes, sir, I was watching 

what he was doing; he was coming this way all the time. 

Q,, This old man came right here? A re called three or 

four other men to come over ,and kill' this Ginny bastard. 

Q 16entime you were backing away from him? A Yes,sir. 

Q Afraid he was going to kill you? A Yee, sir. 

Q, In great fear weren't you? A I was afraid; I didnt 

know what he was going to do. 

Q Didntt you see any man running up here, or some men 

running up there to you? A I saw a few I didnt t see how 

•many, there were b ut I saw a few. 

Q, How many did you see'!' A I coul dr?, t say maybe six 
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eight or ten something like that : saw numbers 

's They were all friends of Rafferty? A, Yes, sir. 

'Q You, thought that if yo U hit Rafferty on the head that 

would them more friendly to you? 

Obj ected to. 9bj ect ion sustained. 

Q Now you hit Rafferty on the head becauvre you were 

4fraid of the men that wore his friends that were running up 

towards you? .A I told Rafferty keep away from my property, 

or T. would hit him.- - don't come towards me - 

Q, You were no t •afraid to defend. irourself with your fists 

against a man of  Raffertyls age and size? A I mean I nev-er 

was a. figliter; I don't know how to fight. 

Q Raffeety was the man you, were afraid of? A Yes, sir. 

Q Not the men. up here (indicating) A I was afraid of 

Rafferty and the other men that Were coming, I know the other 

men were a tough gang. 

Q You thought it would make  them a little more gentle 

to hit Rafferty on the head, is that the idea? A Yes, 

for my own protection. 

Q 'Here is a man 'coming up here (indicating) A Raf-

ferty was coming near me and I thought he would hit melagain. 

Q, So he came close up to you again? A He didn't hit 

me again. If I hadn't hit him with the broom he would have hit me 

.again;• I don't know what he would do then. 

Q, Did you know that broom, was there when you backed up? 

sir. 



Q, Was there an iron bar standing near the broom 

•Q Sure about that9 A I don't know; I didn't see any 

Q You don't know? A 

Q, You just reached back and grabbed the first thing 

your hand touched is that rigt.t?A When I got to the, door 

couldn't go any further, and I Caught hold ,of the first 

thing and it was this -broom. 

The first thing you grabbed? 

Q, When you reached back you didn't, know what you were 

going to get? A. I touched the broom in back of me, and 

seen Rafferty, I don't know whether it was a broom or 

and Ilslupt Rafferty !.Dot' it 2 -come near me or I will hit you", 

and Rafferty came towards me all the time and the other men 

Q Is' that the broom? 

Did you see a broom like th 

a. broom, but I don't know- whether this is the broom or not. 

Q, Was it a broom like that? Al couLdn. t tell you. 

Q, You don't know that? A No . 

down there by the shanty,, did yoU 

Imow what sort ofa broom it was? A Yes, sir. 

ct show us how you took it ;and how you hit .,Rafferty now? 

A This way (Indicating) I lift it 



was coming all the time and the other men • Were caning. 

Q, You  were -oratehing him? A Yes, 

Q, And you still say tbe other men were coming? A 'Yes, 

• 9, Wellsyour men didn't make any effort to get betwee4 y 

the other men? A NO, sir. 

Q, They di dn t help you at all did- ihe 

Q, You didn, t. know your men were there to hell) you? 

I know they were there, but they did not help me. 

Q, Did you say to them-- .there are sPme-onerl eg/Ping19.wrIallere 

4ar, "Kill the Ginny". (No answer.) 

Q, Did you say that to your men? A 

Q. .Did you say"i will bring these other fellows up and .1 

will try and restrain this violent man who is attac.ng.me, 

-this wild man? A No, sir, I didnt t -say anything- like that. • 

Q, You didn, t a.sk them for any assistance against this 

gang that .s coming at you'? A No, sir, I didn't have a chance 
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very hard or just le the blow fall gently on his 

fell-- was very nervous and quick-. 

Did you hit him hard? A No, sir. 

Q, You did not? A No, sir. 

Q, You just hit him softly? A I did I was very ner-

vous and he was going to hit me again, and the gang was 

Q, You were terrigied? A I was afraid he:was going to 

hit me again, and I wanted to keep ilinl-away ,2nd I told him 

to keep away from my place. 

Q, Did you hit him so hard that the broom broke? A The 

broom broke, yes, Sir. 

Q, It broke -after it struck his head, didn't it? A'Yes,_ 

sir. 

Q, Hard enough for that? A Yes, sir. 

Q, You saw the blood streRming down his head  did -you? 

A Yes, sir. 

He had a ha on. when y:ou hit him, didn't he? A Yes., 

Q, You hit him hard enough to cut his head through 

hat, didn't you? A I dont.t know. 

Q, Well,  you hit him on the top of the head right here, 

didnit you? A. I don't knowi-if I did;I think he had  

Q, you told us he had a- hat on until I called your at-

tention to the fact_ that he tab cut through the hat? A I call-

ed it a cap; he had something on. 
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THE COURT: Strike that out. 

Will you say he didn' t have .a,hat? 

ARANOW: Will your Honor instruct counsel n 

to argue with the witness. 

A I don't rememberjust what he had if_ a hat or a ca,p. 

Q, You are not sure aboutthat?T A No sir: 

Q, Now after- you were struck aid were bleeding what hap-

pened to ll these n2en that were running up to attack ycu? 

He told everybody 

Q, What happened to all the men that lAere running up 

to attack you. I don't want know what he told anybody. 

witnesses. 

Q Where were the man? A They were right near him. 

Q, They came up, did they? A They came right near him. 

Q How many of them? A Five or six. 

Q He told them to be •his witnesses? A Yes, sir. 

Q,..Did he say, ."The Ginny son of a bitch has hit me al-

reagy, go on and kill him boys", did he? A I clidnft know 

that; I didn't hear that. 

did. 

You were there, weren't You? A I did n.ot hear it. 

Did he? A I don't know if he did or not. 

Standing quite close to you, wasnft.he? A Yes, sir. 
You were standing quite close to him? A Yes,sir. 

Did he telk them to hit you then? A I don't believe 

9, Did any of them hit you then? A No, sir 

Q Nor at any other time? A No, sir. 
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your fears were groundle8s, weren't they; as 

.as these men were concerned? A -Well, these men when they-

.

 

came near me and they saw Rafferty had stopped they held on 

as this gang bad disappeared'.now,- ad the watchman caugh 

hold of,meiby the neck and I told .the watchman he was going 

to hit me, and I told him, "Don't hit me, leave me 0 aad the 

.• 
watchman .says. All right, I wonit hit you but you got to stay. 

here,  and .I called my forman To get a cop. 

Q Rafferty did say something more, What was it that he 

said? A He said to get these men to be his witnesses. 

Q What is that? _A That is allIto get the witnesses. 

Q Sure about that? A Yes, sir. 

Q He lost all desire to kill you after you hit him 

the headand split his head open? 

R. ARANOW: I object to that. ',again ask your. 

Honor to instruct counsel to desist from making state-

ments in his questions. 

THE COURT: I cannot determine until I hear the ques-

tion. 

Exception. 

Q, Now, did you go into the office with Mr. Noran after-

wards as he testified? A No, sir. 

Q You did not have. any conversation with him at all? 

A !"o, sir. 

Sure about that? A Yes, sir. 

Did you Pay him- after you got inside that you didnt knOw 



say _ anybody else that yhen you got angry 

an you could...n t. control yourself 

that effect? A No, sir. 

'Q, -Never said that? A No, sir. 

Q, Never told the policeman that  A No, sir. 

Did .yOu ever see this- policeman before •that day? A 

saiAr- him before surely. 

Q, Ever have any trOable with him?. A sir. 

Q, Ever have any trouble with Moran? A No, sir., 

Ever have any trouble with Connell Or Whatever his 

name is? A I dont t even know him. 

Q You don't know him at ail? A No sir. 

Q You didn,t say to either Moran or the police officer 

that you got excited and hit this man and you did not know 

what you were doing? A N 

Q, Is that right? -A No, sir. 

Q, The only reason you had to hit the marl was because 

Isere in fear for yourself? A Yes, sir. 

01; 

Q, Then you hit him very- easily? A I don't know I was 

so afraid that the3r were coming ._near me all the time what 

.was I going to do. 

Q, You never called him a n y names? A No, sir. 

Q How long -have -rou been on that dock since this time--

right along every day? .A • Well dvery day= t holidays and 

•fortb. I am down ,'there. 
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time. the police officer caine and took y 

the station house the automobile did you tell him 

tie that Rafferty had assaulted you? A I told him _I 

to have Rafferty arrested. 

You told him you wanted to have Rafferty 'arrested? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, He had struck you  A Yes, sir. 

Q, What did he say? A He said "Tell that to the captain 

in the stat ion house. 

Q,. Didybu tellthe captain he assaulted you? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And struck you? A Yes, sir. 

CI He wouldn't take any complaint there for you? A He 

told me to go to the kagistrates' Court and when I got up 

there to tell it to the Judge. 

ci You are sure you told the officer on the dock when he 

came there that Rafferty struck you? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you tell Noran or anybody else that Rafferty bad 

struck you? A No, air. 

:BY YR. ARANOW: 

Q, Was Nfr. Rafferty dressed as he is now t the time he 

came on the dock with a tie and dollar? A No, sir. 

Q, Did he have the same clothes on at that tithe? A No, 

Q, Was he dressed *1th a white collar? -A No, -sir. 

Q. Did he have derby or fedora hat? A I think he 

had a cap. 

ct What sort f clothes cid he have on? A Well, like an-



was the 'same clothes that he wore 

trates, Court the same .day? A Yes sir. 

Q,. He walked, into the car and got out of the car r: 

away? A Yes, 

Q, Another thing I -wanted to ask you-- you lease from the 

city just exactly 1?shat property? A 52nd. to 54th street. 

Q, Two blocks? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Both blocks? A Yes sir. 

Q You also lease that property from 53rd to 54th 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Is that right? A Yes, sir. 

Q, You have that lease for how long from month to month?• 

A Yes, sir-t. 

J: OSRPH R LAT R, a witness called on behalf of 

the 'People, recalled:' 

BY NH. ARANQU: 

You stated you had been in the service five years? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, Are you acquainted with the rules of your department? 

Yes, sir. 

Are you acquainted with par agra,ph 145 of rule 1 31A of 

your ,rules relating to instruments used •as evidence-- if it 

is wanted as evidence it should b4o'Dwarded to the property 

cierk, do you remember that rule? A That is rule.of the 

department. 

Did you forward that property to the-pr op er clerk? 



station.

house and from the station house it went to the property 

clerk. 

THE COURT: I don't think it means that he must 'do 

dence here is ,that it is the broom with which -the assault 

was committed, and that would be 

I want to show. why he didnyt forward it 

to the prop erty clerk directly. 

THE WITNESS: I did not take it to the prop el-ty 

clerk's office, 

BY MR. WALLACE: 

Q, When you cane on the dock there and placed Pir. . pope 

under arrest did he at that time tell you that Rafferty had 

; objection overrul 

P C K, a witness 

(The witness stated he live & at 682 Fast 18th street. 



State Subway: Company. 

18 year 

}tow long have you been in :this business? A About 

$ the Erap ix. 6 St ate Subway and subsidiary companies. 

Do you know the defendant Gen Pope? A I do. 

Did you do business. with him? - A I have, I did. 

Do you know other p ersOns that know him? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Do you know what his reputation is for honesty and 

truthfulness? 

THE COURT: is tha.t the test here? lent 

for peace and quietness? 

ARANOW: I want to show whether this man has 

found him honest tid truthful. 

W.ALLACE: I done t think it i's mater 41 on the 

question of his veracity or credibility here. I think the 

question for the jury is whether or not he is a quarrel-

some man or a mild sensitive individual. 

A I know the defendant to be an honest man, I never 

caught him in a lie; I have been doing business with him. 

BY Tat? COURT: 

Q, What is his reputation in the community in which he 

lives, if you know *hat reputation he enjoys in the vicinity. 

in which he lives?. A Well, he lives in Jersey, I know his 

reputation for ,a hardworking man. 

Q, Where is that? A Ln New :ork City. It starts from the • 

Battery to the city /ine;. we have different jobs at differ-



ther people and what you have, 

served about shim what s reputation for :peace and quiet 

and what you have observed about him what is his reputation 

• for peace and, quiet and veracity? A It is good reputation, 

Q, You have discussed with other people his reputation 

peace. and quiet and veracity? A No sir, I have riot. 

MR.ARANOW: The Court of Appeals has held that 

the fact that men do not discuss a manta( reputation is 

the very best evidence. 

THE COURT: The evidence goeefin for what 

I am not going to strike it out, 

R. WALLACE: No questions. 

GEORG F. 0 D ENALL E R, a witness called on bthalf 

of the defendant, being duly swornstestified as follows: 

(The witness states he lives at A29 218t street, West 

New York, New Jersey.) 

DIRECT EXAblINATiON BY MR. ANOW: 

Q What is your business? A bleat and grain business, 

I am the manager. 

it is worth" 

Your residence is in New Jersey?, A Yes, sir. 

Do you know Gene Pope? A Yes, sir. 

Where d: es he reside? A He lives also in Jersey. 

Do you know his family? A Yes, sir. 

His wife? A Yes, sir, 

Q, His dr en? A Yes, sir. 

Visit his house? A Yes, sir. 



Do you  know others pirsons. -that know him? A Y 

very many. 

Do you know what hi reputation is for .honesty an 

'truthfulness? ,A Yes, sir. 

Q, is it good_ or bad? A Good, 

Q Do you know what his reputation is as being a: law-. 

-aboding, peaceful citizen, good or bad? A Good.. 

CROss aANINATI ON BY MR. TALL AC  : 

Q, save you  any business dealings with the defendant? 

-Yes, sir. 

Q Sell him haynand grain? A Yes, sir I have but not 

just mot. 

ISADORE 'FREI D, a witness called on behalf of 

the defendant, being duly sworn testified as follows: 

3:1The witness states he lives at 100 Vorningside Drive.). 

DIRECT EX, INATION BY IfiR. ARANOW: 

Q What is your business? A Insurance. 

Q, How long in that business? A Some 18 years. 

Q Where is yolir office? A 149 Broadway. 

Q. In this city? A Yes, sir. 

Q Do you know Gene Pope? A I do. 

Q, Did you do ousin sea with him? A I did. 

Q Do you know o th er p er sons that know Gene Pope? A I do. 

Q, Do you know what his reputation is for honesty an 

truthfulness? A Good. 

Do you know what his reputation is for honesty' an 
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truthfulness and as to whether or not he is a lawa.bi(,:ling 

citizen? A I never heard anything to the contrary. 

CROSS BXAMI1ATI6N BY IVIR..WALLACf: 

Do you know him in a social or business way? A In 

S business way. 

You do his insurance business for him? .A I do. 

Q (rust a slight acquaintance with him? A I went out 

JOHN J. RAFIWTY, the complaining witness called 

by yr. Wallace. 

Q At the time .-y-ou went to the dock to meet Pope on the 

3rd of April, 1919, how were you - dressed? A Exa:ctly as I arc, 

nowe 

suit like this on I came from the Supreme-.Court that morning, 

from the Supreme Court room, I lbft there the city hall at 

half past eleven or a quarter after eleven, and I came up on 

the '11," to 59th street and transacted some business at 59th 

street and the North River and walked down, I had a blue 

over coat on an brown fedora hat. 

Q, You say exactly as you are dressed now, you mean in the 

same manner, you dontt mean that you had this suit of clothes 

on? A No„ sir. 

Q You had a suit of clothes of that color and a fedora 

hat and overcoat op? A Yes, sir. 

.•••• 



w vrwre you. dressed in a cap and sweater? A. No 

I was not out of the Supreme Court a half an hour. 
,t-

THF COURT You were asked. how you were 

you punch the defendant in the face? A 

raised my hand. 

BY MR. - WALLICE: 

Q, Mien you saY You never raised your hand you mean you 

neTer punched him -- you did raise your hand to call somebody?' 

A. Yet, sir. 

Q What- did you. say? 

Obj acted to. Objection- sustained. 

THE COURT: That has all been gone into. 

ARANOW: 

Q, This man struck you on the head? •A Yes, sir. 

Q Through the hat? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Have you got the hat here?. A No 

Q, Have you brought it? A No, s r. 

Q Did you ever have it in court? A I did. 

Q, Did you show it to me? A No sir. 

Q Did you show it to the Magistrate? A No s r. 

Q, Are you dressed in the way You were in the Magis-

trates' Court on the day that I examined -you? Al was full of 
blood wtkth.a handkerchief around my neck. 

Q, Did I examine you? A Yes. 
Q, In 54th street and you were dressed there bleeding 

sir. 
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a handkerchief around Your neck in the cour 

TER COURT: Let us get the date or this examination. 
JCR, ARARDW: On April 8th I an  talking ab out, the 

day he .was arr Wed, 

amined you. 

I am talking 'about the date I 

MR. WALLACE: The attorney is interrogating you 

• the day of the exaMinat ion in the kagistrates' Court, 

for several days after the  third of April. Do you recall 

how you were dressed on that occasion? 

A Yes sir. 

Q How were you dressed? A A collar and tie,6on and 

a brown Suit and a fedora hat. 

Q Now after you had this.man locked up you- went home?: 

A I went home  

Q How soon after you .had this man arrested? -A 'Why, 

as Soon as the case • want to 'court. 



w filpon after? A Why immediately after. 

-How many minutes please? A, Why, 

the station house and I walked right down t 

my mother's house. 

Q, Y6U-had lunch there? A Yes, sir. 

q Did you change your clothes? A No, sir I 

Q When did you go to court, after lunch? A 

Q You didn t change your clothes? A No, sir, 

Q Just left them with the handkerchief around you? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Just prior to coming to Gene Pope's place didn, 

stop at a place where they mere loading manure? 

NR. ARANOW: I object to that on the ground that it 

is immater ia . 

THE COURT: He may answer the question. 

nidn't you come from a place *here they were loading 

manure prior to coming to Gene Pope's place, answer that if 

you can? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Rhere were they loading manure, that is What street? 

A 59th street. 

Q, You were not loading manure yourself? A sir. 

BY .1.1 JUROR: 

-Q. The :,ambulance Surgeon put three. stitches in your. 

..mound? . A Yes sir. 

Q, After that you were treatedby your. own Physician? 

.A YeS., sir, 
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23 How oftenidid you see him? A About seven tirkes.. 

after that when he took the stitches out. 

When did he take :the stitches out? A About two 
rt. 

weeks after. 

By A JUROR: 

Q, You had that overcoat on? A Yes sir. 

Q,. Did any blood get on your overcoat? A All down the 

front of it. 

Q, Did you submit that in evidences? A No, sir, I did not. 

BY MR. ARANOW: 

You.:had that dOCk between 53rd and 54th streets weat 

• of 12th avenue-- between 43rd or 54th or 54th and 56th? 

A :.53rd And 54th. 

Q, How long ago did you have that? 

UR. WALLACE: I object to this line of ques-

tioning on the ground that it 1 improper re-cross examine-

tion. There was no question asked by me of this witness 

• that had any reference to docks. 

THR! COURT: I will allow it. 

A -About eight years ago. 

• Q, Did yOu give it up? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you individually have it or did a company have 

it? A Why Rafferty -prothers had it 

Q You dissovled business when you gave it .up? 

Objected to as immaterial. Excluded. 

•(4, Did you sell it? 



• 

LI 

Obj-ected to as incompetent and immaterial. Question. 

excluded. kxception. 

MR.WALL.Aeg: The people rest. ‘7,) 

MR.ARANOW: I renew the motion made at the conclu-

aiion of the people's case that your Honor direct a ver 

diet of •a.cquittal on all the grounds mentioned-- that the 

evidence produced both by the prosecution wid defense 

shows that the defendant wasjustified in his attack 

even under the version of the people's witnesses, the 

complainant in this case.' 

THE COURT: It is for the jury to say. There is a 

question here for the jury, The question of self dew. 

fense is always one for the jury and cannotbe treated 

as a matter of law. I will decline your request. 

Exception. 

THE COURT: When I pass upon a queEltion of law, gentle --
anything 4) • 

men you must not g1ean4from it, one way or the otherbe-

cause it does not mean that the Court entertains an opin-

ion upon the facts. The facts are all left for you.The 
. _-
Court's decision does not meal that the Court hasad-

judged the defendant guilty. 

(The Court charges the--jury.-) 

(The jury return a verdict of not guilty.) 
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